

Blueprint for an active Australia

Government and community actions to increase population levels of physical activity and reduce sedentary behaviour in Australia, 2014–2017

Second edition

© 2014 National Heart Foundation of Australia

First edition 2009

This work is copyright. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form of language without prior written permission from the National Heart Foundation of Australia (national office). Enquiries concerning permissions should be directed to copyright@heartfoundation.org. au. The entire contents of this material are subject to copyright protection.

ISBN 978-1-74345-082-6

PRO-158

Recommended citations

See action areas for specific citation details

or

National Heart Foundation of Australia. Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014

Disclaimer: This material has been developed by the Heart Foundation for general information. The statements and recommendations it contains are, unless labelled as 'expert opinion', based on independent review of the available evidence.

While care has been taken in preparing the content of this material, the Heart Foundation and its employees cannot accept any liability, including for any loss or damage, resulting from the reliance on the content, or for its accuracy, currency and completeness. The information is obtained and developed from a variety of sources including, but not limited to, collaborations with third parties and information provided by third parties under licence. It is not an endorsement of any organisation, product or service.

This material may be found in third parties' programs or materials (including, but not limited to, show bags or advertising kits). This does not imply an endorsement or recommendation by the National Heart Foundation of Australia for such third parties' organisations, products or services, including their materials or information. Any use of National Heart Foundation of Australia materials or information by another person or organisation is at the user's own risk.

The entire contents of this material are subject to copyright protection.

Foreword

It gives me great pleasure to introduce the second edition of the Heart Foundation's *Blueprint for an active Australia*. This publication is the result of the efforts of many academics and policy specialists in the field of physical activity. It presents an irrefutable and urgent case for change, summarising contemporary evidence in 13 different areas and providing detailed recommendations for urgent action.



Physical inactivity is a risk factor that contributes to Australia's growing and significant burden of chronic disease, including cardiovascular disease, yet it is a risk factor often overlooked in prevention efforts. The positive story of physical activity is its

therapeutic benefits to physical and mental health. This document should remind us all that sometimes the best medicine can be as simple as spending time being physically active.

Time is central to physical activity; the amount of time we allocate to physical activity is decreasing. Since 2001, the proportion and number of Australians doing very little or no exercise has continued to increase. This has been exacerbated by increasing time spent in sedentary activities, such as television viewing or time spent seated at work. The National Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines recommend that an adult accumulate 150 to 300 minutes of moderateintensity physical activity or 75 to 150 minutes of vigorous-intensity physical activity each week. The guidelines also recommend that the time spent in prolonged sitting be minimised and that long periods of sitting be broken up as frequently as possible. This edition of the Blueprint includes an action area that tackles sedentary behaviour in settings such as education, workplaces and aged-care services.

Our busy and highly mechanised lifestyles make avoiding prolonged sitting and finding time to participate in structured exercise more and more challenging. In recognising these challenges, *Blueprint for an active Australia* outlines a holistic approach to physical activity. Example initiatives found in the Blueprint include:

- built environment and planning reform to create spaces and places that promote walking and cycling
- incorporation of physical activity programs in schools, workplaces and aged-care settings
- the delivery of affordable and accessible evidence-based physical activity programs for the management and prevention of chronic disease
- increased support for sporting and active recreation clubs.

Overcoming the many barriers to physical activity requires a multi-sectorial response, led by governments and implemented at the community level. The action areas in this document provide a blueprint for change towards an Australia that better reflects the healthy, fit and outdoors-loving archetype so often portrayed as representing the culture of this country.

Mary Barry Chief Executive Officer – National

Contents

| Foreword |
|---|
| Acknowledgements |
| Introduction |
| Executive summary |
| Action area 1 – Built environments 14 |
| Action area 2 – Workplaces |
| Action area 3 – Health care |
| Action area 4 – Active travel |
| Action area 5 – Prolonged sitting (sedentary behaviour) |
| Action area 6 – Sport and active recreation 44 |
| Action area 7 – Disadvantaged populations 50 |
| Action area 8 – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples |
| Action area 9 – Children and adolescents |
| Action area 10 – Older people |
| Action area 11 – Financial measures |
| Action area 12 – Mass-media strategy |
| Action area 13 – Research and program evaluation |

Acknowledgements

This document is the result of the combined efforts of many people, including some of Australia's foremost researchers and leaders in the fields of physical activity, transport, planning and health, who have generously donated their time and expertise. The Heart Foundation wishes to acknowledge the following:

Action area authors

Dr Hannah Badland Professor Kylie Ball Professor Adrian Bauman **Professor William Bellew** Helen Brown Professor Wendy Brown Professor Fiona Bull Dr Matthew I Burke Dr Karla Canuto Dr Verity Cleland Dr Dylan Cliff Michelle Daley Praki Dhungel Dr James Dollman Dr Mitchell Duncan Associate Professor David Dunstan Dr Rochelle Eime **Rachelle Foreman** Dr Sarah Foster Professor Billie Giles-Corti Dr Nicholas Gilson Dr Genevieve Healy

Dr Kylie Hesketh Dr Trina Hinkley Stephen Hodge Dr Paula Hooper Sarah Kennedy Dr Justine Leavy Associate Professor David Lubans Rona Macniven Peter McCue Dr Karen Milton Professor Phillip Morgan Associate Professor Tony Okely Professor Neville Owen Dr Karen Page Professor Ronald Plotnikoff **Dr** Nicky Ridgers Professor Jo Salmon Adjunct Associate Professor Trevor Shilton Dr Ben Smith Adjunct Professor John Stanley Dr John Stone

Dr Takemi Sugiyama Associate Professor Anna Timperio Dr Gavin Turrell Dr Jannique van Uffelen Vicki Wade

Heart Foundation writing and editing group

Trevor Shilton Jane Potter Jen Thompson Rohan Greenland Melanie Chisholm

Copy-editors Jen Thompson Gill Smith

Managing editor Hayley Hawkins

Design and layout The Designwrights

Introduction

The National Heart Foundation of Australia presents the second edition of the Blueprint for an active Australia, outlining the case for change towards a more physically active Australia. The evidence and interventions presented in the first edition have been expanded and updated. The second edition features new action areas, reflecting a growing evidence base that reinforces the need for urgent, coordinated and concerted action. Each of the featured action areas has been developed by leading academics, who have applied contemporary evidence and their specialist knowledge and expertise. The Heart Foundation is grateful for their generous contribution. A list of the authors can be found on page 3.

While each of the action areas targets a different area of research expertise, *Blueprint for an active Australia* has been informed by a shared commitment to increasing Australia's investment in preventative health, including physical activity, and to the delivery of this investment in a manner that benefits all Australians, including those experiencing disadvantage.



Physical activity – an investment for our future

Physical inactivity contributes to almost onequarter of the burden of cardiovascular disease in Australia (24%). It is followed only by high blood pressure (42%) and high blood cholesterol levels (34%).¹

Despite our image of ourselves as an active nation, the data tells a different story. Australians are, in fact, a nation of couch dwellers, and physical activity levels in both adults and children are lower than those of most comparable nations. Eight in ten Australian children do not meet national guidelines of 60 minutes of physical activity per day, and eight in ten children exceed screen-time guidelines of two hours per day.² More than a third (36%) of Australians aged 15 and over do very little or no exercise at all. Since 2001, the proportion and number of Australians doing very little or no exercise has continued to increase.³

These low levels of physical activity will drive up chronic diseases, including heart disease, type 2 diabetes and some cancers. Physical activity deserves a central place in health policy due to its powerful and central role in preventing and managing chronic diseases. The good news is that investing in the evidence-based actions recommended in *Blueprint for an active Australia* will make an important difference. Physical activity is good medicine for our nation.

Participating in regular physical activity can reduce cardiovascular disease–related deaths by up to 35%. Large population studies have repeatedly demonstrated that higher rates and intensity of physical activity are associated with greater risk reduction.^{4,5}

If we think of physical activity as a medication and its adult dose as 30–60 minutes per day, there is scarcely anything else we could take daily that would provide such comprehensive health benefits. Our daily dose of physical activity can significantly reduce the risk of Australia's leading killers: heart disease, type 2 diabetes and some cancers. Physical activity can also improve mental health.

Physical activity has no side effects, is accessible and has little or no cost. If indeed it were a drug, we would all be taking it.

The health effects of physical activity are compelling. However, the potency of physical activity as a policy investment for Australia extends far beyond health. Active living plays a key role in broader economic and social goals for our nation:

- Walking, cycling and public transport are affordable and sustainable solutions to traffic congestion.
- These same behaviours contribute to cleaner air and reduced carbon emissions and sustainable environments.
- Active neighbourhoods and cities are more liveable, with higher levels of social capital and community cohesion and lower levels of crime.
- In the context of an ageing community, physical activity enables older Australians to live more active lifestyles with reduced risk from disabling and costly chronic diseases.
- Fit and active workers are more productive, take fewer sick days and make a positive contribution to our economic wellbeing.

The policy context

Australia

Increasing physical activity across the Australian population is the responsibility of many parties, including individuals, families, communities, businesses, clubs and various government departments and agencies. To achieve the coordinated effort necessary, **government leadership and investment is vital**. Policy priorities across sectors, and related funding decisions at the federal, state and local levels, can have a direct impact on opportunities to be active and on access to environments and facilities that enable active living. Coordination is vital as there is no single solution to increasing physical activity or sector that can do it on its own.

Federal leadership

The federal government has a key role in supporting strategic investments that enable delivery of physical activity policies and initiatives. National priorities among these are:

- developing a national physical activity policy and action plan
- securing and allocating sustainable funding
- supporting regular monitoring and robust evaluation
- funding and supporting physical activity research
- developing and regularly updating national physical activity and sedentariness guidelines for adults and children
- ensuring a process for securing highlevel expert advice
- establishing a cross-sector committee for national leadership and physical activity policy coordination to provide advice on the development and implementation of national policies and actions; such a committee should be charged with the highest level of reporting and accounting (including to the Council of Australian Governments and related standing councils).



State and territory leadership

State and territory governments have a key role in supporting local strategic investment through relevant departments under their jurisdiction. State and territory departments of health, education, planning, transport and sport and recreation all have roles in enabling policy and programs to support physical activity in communities. Many of the actions recommended in this document are the responsibility of state and territory governments, including:

- health promotion programs and policies
- school physical education, sport and fitness
- walking, cycling and public transport investment
- urban planning codes and policies
- sport and recreation programs and services.

Local government

Local government is the closest tier of government to communities and has a vital role in physical activity service provision and in providing and maintaining physical activity infrastructure such as walking and cycling paths, sport and recreation facilities, parks and open space.

Global

The World Health Organization (WHO), in response to recommendations from the 2011 United Nations High-level Meeting on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases, has agreed to a target to reduce physical inactivity across the world by 10% by 2025.⁶

The WHO has endorsed the Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013–2025, in which it has identified proposed actions for member states. It calls for member states to:

- consider establishing a multi-sectorial national committee or coalition to provide leadership and coordinate national action for increasing physical activity
- develop policies and strategies with a focus on **actions across multiple settings**.

Additional global initiatives of significance include:

- the policy framework for national action on physical activity of the International Society for Physical Activity and Health
- the Toronto Charter for Physical Activity, a global call to action on physical activity, which provides a framework to:
 - 1. Implement a national policy and action plan
 - 2. Introduce policies that support physical activity
 - 3. Reorient services and funding to prioritise physical activity
 - 4. Develop partnerships for action.

Blueprint for an active Australia provides appropriate high-level Australian evidence and guidance regarding areas for investment that, when implemented with sufficient weight, can lead to increases in population levels of physical activity.

The case for increased investment in prevention

Australia appears to be performing poorly compared to other members of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) when it comes to government investment in public health. Australia's investment in prevention and public health is shrinking, ranking in the lowest third of the OECD nations, well behind New Zealand, which leads the way on 7% of total health expenditure, and Canada, second at 5.9%. In 2011–12, Australian governments spent just 1.7% of total healthcare spending on public health activities.⁷

The case for additional investment in physical activity programs and infrastructure is compelling. In 2008, physical inactivity cost the economy \$13.8 billion, with inactivity causing an estimated 16,000 premature deaths a year. Productivity loss due to physical inactivity was estimated at 1.8 working days per worker per year. Direct health costs were estimated to be \$719 million a year.⁸

In the United Kingdom, ill health related to physical inactivity was calculated to cost the country £900 million in one year alone (2006–07). This modelling identified the following costs: £542 million (heart disease), £158 million (type 2 diabetes), £117 million (stroke), £65 million (colorectal cancer) and £54 million (breast cancer). Total costs of physical inactivity in the UK have been estimated at £10 billion a year.⁹

And while the costs of physical inactivity are high, the return on investment in physical activity programs is impressive. Studies continue to back the case for investment in physical activity. A 2014 Auckland University study found that best-practice cycling policies for New Zealand's largest city could deliver returns 24 times higher than initial investments.¹⁰ *Making the case for walking,* published in 2011 by the British charity Living Streets, found that 'all the evidence reviewed of evaluations of walking environments showed positive cost benefit ratios, of up to 37.6'.¹¹

A 2011 review of 18 separate economic analyses of physical activity programs (including exercise classes, workplace counselling, walking and fitness programs) across seven countries (including Australia and New Zealand), published between 1982 and 2008, concluded that, while difficult to compare, 'most of the reviewed studies deduce that the investigated intervention is good value for money compared with alternatives or even cost saving'.¹²

In the USA, an evaluation was conducted on the Federal Highway Administration active mobility pilot program in four communities. It revealed that, with investment of US\$88 million, some 137 million vehicle kilometres were avoided between 2009 and 2013. The number of walking trips increased by 23%, while the number of bicycle trips increased by 48%. Reduced economic costs of mortality from bicycling alone were put at US\$46 million in 2013. Petrol savings were estimated at 13.6 million litres. Air pollution was also significantly decreased.¹³



Writing in *The Lancet* in 2012, Chi Pang Wen and Xifeng Wu noted that physical inactivity burdens society through the hidden and growing cost of medical care and loss of productivity. The mortality burden caused by inactivity is, they said, as large as tobacco smoking. And while exercise has been called a miracle drug that can substantially extend the lifespan, 'it receives little respect from doctors or society'.¹⁴

The Heart Foundation believes that all Australian governments must invest more in initiatives that promote physical activity and that investment must be proportional to the burden of disease attributable to an inactive and sedentary society.

The case for reducing the 'participation gap'

Health is not evenly distributed in Australia. Australians with the lowest household incomes die, on average, six years earlier than those with the highest incomes.¹⁵ In fact, for almost every health indicator, people of lower socioeconomic position fare worse than those of higher socioeconomic position. Physical activity participation rates are no different. Low participation rates are associated with lower socioeconomic status, remoteness and Aboriginality.^{16,17}

These health inequities don't happen by accident. They are systematic, avoidable and unfair.^{18,19} They arise because of unequal access to the conditions needed for health, such as a basic education, a secure income, adequate housing, good neighbourhood design, accessible transport and a supportive social network.²⁰ These conditions are often governed by prevailing social and economic policies and are amenable to change.

While individuals are responsible for their own health, it isn't right when these conditions restrict a person's opportunity to be healthy. 'It has been suggested that socioeconomic factors have the largest impact on health, accounting for up to 40% of all influences compared with health behaviours (30%), clinical care (20%) and the physical environment (10%)'.²¹ Strategies are required to change systems and empower people,²² as demonstrated in each of the following action areas. The level of effort and investment must be proportionate to need.^{19,23}

In line with the WHO's call to eradicate health inequities in a generation, this blueprint for action on physical activity promotes concerted action to reduce the physical activity 'participation gap' within Australia.²⁴



References

- 1 Begg SJ, Vos T, Barker B, et al. Burden of disease and injury in Australia in the new millennium: measuring health loss from diseases, injuries and risk factors. Med J Aust 2008; 188:36–40.
- 2 Active Healthy Kids Australia (2014). Is sport enough? The 2014 active healthy kids Australia report card on physical activity for children and young people. Adelaide: Active Healthy Kids Australia.
- 3 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: physical activity, 2011–12. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.004. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 4 Samitz G, Egger M, Zwahlen M. Domains of physical activity and all-cause mortality: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Int J Epidemiol 2011; 40(5):1382–1400.
- 5 Nocon M, Hiemann T, Muller-Riemenschneider F, et al. Association of physical activity with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2008; 15: 239–246.
- 6 World Health Organization 2013. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. Geneva: WHO.
- 7 Australian Government Department of Health. Australia's physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines. 2014 [cited 2014 Feb 7]. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-strateg-phys-act-guidelines.
- 8 Medibank Private. The cost of physical inactivity. Medibank Private, 2008:7,9.
- 9 British Heart Foundation National Centre of Physical Activity and Health. Making the case for physical activity: evidence briefing. BHF National Centre of Physical Activity and Health, 2013:1.
- 10 Macmillan A, Connor J, Witten K, et al. The societal costs and benefits of commuter bicycling: simulating the effects of specific policies using system dynamics modeling. Environ Health Perspect 2014; 122(4):335–344. Epub 2014 Feb 6.
- 11 Sinnett D, Williams K, Chatterjee K, et al. Making the case for investment in the walking environment: a review of the evidence. Living Streets, 2011 [cited 2014 Jul 20]. Available from: http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/professionals/making-thecase-for-investment-in-the-walking-environment.
- 12 Wolfenstetter SB, Wenig CM. Costing of physical activity programmes in primary prevention: a review of the literature. Health Econ Rev 1.1 2011:1–15.
- 13 Lyons W, Rasmussen B, Daddio D, et al. Nonmotorized transportation pilot program, 2014 report: continued progress in developing walking and bicycling networks. US Department of Transportation, May 2014 [cited 2014 Jul 23]. Available from: http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/ntpp/2014_report/.
- 14 Chi Pang Wen, Wu X. Stressing harms of physical inactivity to promote exercise. Lancet 2012; 380(9838):192–193. Epub 2012 Jul 21.
- 15 Clarke P, Leigh A. Death, dollars and degrees: socio-economic status and longevity in Australia. Economic Papers, 2011; 30(3):1759–3441.
- 16 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: first results, 2011–2012. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.001. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 17 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health survey: first results, 2012–2013. Cat. no. 4727.0.55.001. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 18 Braveman P, Gruskin S. Defining equity in health. J Epidemiol Community Health 2003; 57(4):254–258. Epub 2003 Mar 21.
- 19 Whitehead M, Dahlgren G. Concepts and principles for tackling social inequities in health: levelling up part 1. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2006.
- 20 Dahlgren G, Whitehead M. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. Background document to WHO: strategy paper for Europe. Stockholm: Institute for Futures Studies, 1991.
- 21 British Academy for Humanities and Social Sciences. 'If you could do one thing ...': nine local actions to reduce health inequalities. In: Australia's health 2014. Australia's health series no. 14. Cat. no. AUS 178. Canberra: AIHW, 2014:84.
- 22 Whitehead M. The concepts and principles of equity and health. Copenhagen: World Health Organization, 1992.
- 23 Marmot M. Achieving health equity: from root causes to fair outcomes. Lancet 2007; 370(9593):1153–1163.
- 24 Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2008.



Executive summary

The second edition of *Blueprint for an active Australia* contains 13 action areas; they each contribute to the central objective of increasing the amount of time that people in Australia spend in physically active pursuits.

This is an objective worth pursuing; as stated in **Physical activity – an investment for our future** (pages 4–5), if physical activity was a medication, an adult dose of 30–60 minutes per day would provide significant health benefits. Unfortunately, inadequate physical activity and sedentary behaviour contributes significantly to Australia's burden of disease and overall health costs. **The case for increased investment in prevention** (pages 7–8) reminds us that, in 2008 alone, the cost of physical inactivity in Australia was \$13.8 billion. This blueprint calls for change, raising the concerning fact that investment in preventative health is rapidly declining, with Australia's spending now ranked in the lowest third of the 34 countries in the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.

The choices we make about our health are affected by our age, our physical and mental health, by the circumstances and the locations in which we live, our families, our work and our education. The amount of physical activity that we achieve is not immune to these influences. The case for reducing the 'participation **gap'** (page 8) is a timely reminder that people experiencing socioeconomic and other forms of disadvantage are less likely to participate in physical activity. Low physical activity participation rates are associated with lower socioeconomic status, remoteness and Aboriginality. This document recommends many approaches to overcome barriers to physical activity and identifies opportunities and incentives to increase participation.

The recommended initiatives contained in the action areas represent an investment in improving the health of Australians and contributing to reducing the global burden of noncommunicable diseases. The World Health Organization has committed to reducing physical inactivity across the world by 10% in the next ten years. To achieve this target, member states, including Australia, are being encouraged to establish a multi-sectorial national committee or coalition to provide necessary leadership and coordination. The policy context (pages 5–7) demonstrates that investment and leadership by the Australian government is vital. There are roles and activities throughout the Blueprint for each level of government and for the non-government, business and community sectors.



The 13 action areas share a similar format, each exploring the case for change under the heading 'Why is this important?', followed by the presentation of recommended initiatives and approaches in 'What must be done'. The action areas are:

Action area 1

Built environments (page 14) explores how the neighbourhood context permeates our lives, from childhood to older age. Community and neighbourhood design impacts on how frequently we walk, cycle or use public transport and also on our participation in recreational walking and physical activity.

Action area 2

Workplaces (page 20) discusses how to create healthy workplaces through initiatives such as better workspace design, progressive occupational health and safety approaches and workplace physical activity programs.

Action area 3

Health care (page 26) presents the case for integrating physical activity into chronic disease treatment and risk-reduction strategies used by general practitioners and other primary-care staff.

Action area 4

Active travel (page 32) recommends reprioritising transport and urban planning to reduce car dependency and increase the opportunities to ride, walk or use public transport.

Action area 5

Prolonged sitting (sedentary behaviour) (page 38) examines how prolonged periods of sitting occur in many settings – in schools, in workplaces, at home in front of the television or other screen-based devices, and during travel – and recommends interventions to reduce the overall amount of time that is spent sitting.

Action area 6

Sport and active recreation (page 44) highlights that participation in sport and active recreation offers social, developmental and health benefits across all age and population groups.

Action area 7

Disadvantaged populations (page 50) explores barriers and the actions needed to overcome them in disadvantaged populations. People who are socioeconomically and geographically disadvantaged experience unacceptable levels of health inequities.

Action area 8

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (page 56) explores the delivery of culturally suitable and accessible physical activity programs to promote higher levels of participation among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Action area 9

Children and adolescents (page 60) discusses the inadequate rates of physical activity participation among children and adolescents; highlights the numerous physical, developmental and social benefits of participation; and recommends actions to increase participation levels.

Action area 10

Older people (page 66) reminds us that sustaining, and even increasing, physical activity as we age benefits mental and physical health, and recommends interventions that can be implemented, taking into account different physical capacities.

Action area 11

Financial measures (page 72) acknowledges that economic measures will influence the choices people make and details useful incentives to increase rates of active travel and physical activity.

Action area 12

Mass-media strategy (page 78) covers the role of mass-media strategies in increasing people's awareness and motivation to increase their rates of physical activity. This action area recognises that media, including social media, is part of our daily lives and is an essential component in increasing Australia's rate of physical activity participation.

Action area 13

Research and program evaluation (page 82) outlines the types of research and evaluation required to monitor, measure and guide the multi-level interventions featured in the Blueprint. It explores general themes in evaluation, monitoring and research rather than individual study areas.



Action area 1 – Built environments Create built environments that

support active living

Authors

B Giles-Corti,^{1,2} H Badland,^{1,2} P Hooper,^{2,3} A Timperio,⁴ T Sugiyama,^{2,5} S Foster,³ F Bull,^{2,3} L Cain⁶

- 1 McCaughey VicHealth Centre for Community Wellbeing, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne
- 2 NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities
- 3 Centre for the Built Environment and Health, University of Western Australia
- 4 Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition, Deakin University
- 5 School of Population Health, University of South Australia
- 6 National Heart Foundation of Australia

Suggested citation

Giles-Corti B, Badland H, Hooper P, et al. Action area 1: built environments. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

Why is this important?

Reshaping the built environments in which most Australians live, work, learn and recreate can significantly increase daily physical activity levels. Community and neighbourhood design impacts on local walking, cycling and public transport use, as well as on recreational walking and physical activity.

Consider the case for change:

- For decades, concern has been growing about the unsustainability of post–World War II planning principles adopted in Australia, with segregated land use, disconnected streets, low residential density, limited local employment opportunities and public transport, and high motor vehicle dependency.¹
- Higher levels of walking for transport are found in 'walkable' neighbourhoods, with higherdensity mixed-use zoning, connected street networks and access to public transport,^{2–6} and a balance of jobs to housing.⁶ Creating pedestrian-friendly streets has also been shown to be good for supporting local economies.⁷
- Recreational walking is associated with the presence, proximity and quality of green space and the aesthetics of streets.²
- Providing diverse housing in walkable environments can help older adults to 'age in place'. Safe neighbourhoods with connected street networks and local shops, services and recreational facilities are

associated with more walking in older adults, and may protect against a decline in physical activity over time.⁸⁻¹¹

- Emerging evidence suggests that urban sprawl is also associated with coronary heart disease in women;¹² living in more walkable neighbourhoods is associated with lower cardiovascular disease risk factors such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (men only).¹³
- Creating walkable neighbourhoods in disadvantaged areas may help reduce inequalities in chronic disease.¹⁴
- Children are more likely to be physically active in more walkable neighbourhoods with access to recreation facilities close by,¹⁵ and to walk to school in neighbourhoods with connected street networks but low traffic speeds and volume.¹⁶ In adolescents, physical activity is associated with higher landuse mix and residential density.¹⁵ Having access to a range of local recreational destinations also appears to limit sedentary behaviour in young people.¹⁷
- Emerging evidence suggests that fear of crime can restrict adults' walking¹⁸ and their children's independent mobility.¹⁹
- There appears to be growing consumer demand for more walkable neighbourhoods.²⁰

🚯 What must be done?

To reshape communities and neighbourhoods, leadership and action is required at all three tiers of government and can be supported by businesses and professionals, particularly developers, architects and engineers, who also have a role to play by adopting healthy planning and design. The following interventions are recommended to enable more active and liveable environments.

Implement policies that create communities and neighbourhoods that support active living:

- appoint a federal minister responsible for major cities and urban development; this portfolio should provide policy leadership on major cities, urban development and transport planning that embeds principles of active living
- provide federal funding to improve public transport infrastructure
- provide federal funding to local government to maintain and enhance community infrastructure that promotes physical activity
- implement integrated urban planning strategies in each state and territory that are overseen by the premier's office and embed principles of healthy living and sustainability
- integrate urban, transport and infrastructure planning to achieve compact, liveable neighbourhoods serviced by public transport, walking

and cycling and other social infrastructure

- prioritise infrastructure investment in walking, cycling and public transport projects; allocate resources firstly to underserviced neighbourhoods such as those on the urban fringe
- integrate healthy planning principles and active-living design codes in urban planning, design and development policies and regulations
- develop open-space policies, standards and planning codes that ensure residents have access to a range of open spaces for both active and passive recreation within walking distance, accessible by pedestrian-friendly routes
- require health-impact assessments to be undertaken on larger-scale urban and transport planning developments and policies
- introduce financial incentives to promote cycling and demand measures to restrict parking and motor vehicle use to reduce congestion and to encourage people to walk and cycle more frequently
- reduce posted street speeds in local streets to 30km/h to increase safety for cyclists and pedestrians, and to create a more welcoming environment for children²¹
- introduce minimum netdensity thresholds in suburban developments to create compact mixed-use neighbourhoods that promote pedestrian- and

bicycle-friendly environments and reduce car dependency, as well as increase the viability and accessibility of local businesses, public transport and local amenities

 ensure high-density development is co-located with public transport, shops and services and increased access to high-quality public open space.

Plan, develop and retrofit neighbourhoods to include the following features:

- mixed land use provide local access to a mix of shops, schools, parks and services
- higher densities increase density in outer suburban areas to support access to local infrastructure and public transport that encourages more walking and cycling, and around activity centres and public transport hubs to encourage public transport access, walking and cycling
- transportation systems that prioritise walking, cycling and public transport – prioritise pedestrians and cyclists over motorists through provision of connected networks of footpaths, on-road and off-road cycle paths, traffic calming and safe road-crossing points, and access to affordable and frequent public transport services
- end-use facilities that promote active transport – increase access to facilities such as bicycle parking and showers in workplaces, public buildings, shopping centres and schools to facilitate active travel



- urban design design neighbourhoods with high levels of street connectivity, diverse lot sizes and dwelling types, access to amenities and increased natural surveillance
- careful siting of key facilities – site schools and retirement housing within connected street networks with low traffic volumes and, in the case of retirement housing, high levels of access to shops and services
- personal safety enhance natural surveillance of streets and public open spaces from adjacent houses and businesses
- public open space provide access to a hierarchy of highquality public open spaces suitable for multiple user groups across the life course; design to enhance safety (natural surveillance from adjacent houses and business) and provide amenities to meet the needs of different user groups.

Implement social and community interventions that support the creation of healthier neighbourhoods:

- develop, implement and evaluate tools and educational strategies that target built environment professionals to embed active-living principles into their practice
- promptly remove litter and graffiti and repair damage through vandalism to enhance perceptions of safety.

Help individuals contribute to creating and choosing active neighbourhoods and communities:

- implement social marketing and advocacy initiatives to mobilise individuals to demand healthier neighbourhoods
- educate consumers about the availability and importance of using neighbourhood walkability and other active-living tools when deciding where to live
- introduce a health-related liveability index for new developments to assist consumers to make informed choices when purchasing property.



See also Action area 4 – Active travel

References

- 1 Falconer R, Giles-Corti B. Smart development: designing the built environment for improved access and health outcomes. In: Newman P, editor. Transitions pathways towards sustainable urban development in Australia. Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO, 2008.
- 2 Sugiyama T, Neuhaus M, Cole R, et al. Destination and route attributes associated with adults' walking: a review. MSSE 2012; 44:1275–1286. Epub 2012 Jan 6.
- 3 Badland H, Schofield G. Transport, urban design, and physical activity: an evidence-based update. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment 2005; 10(3):177–196.
- 4 McCormack G, Shiell A. In search of causality: a systematic review of the relationship between the built environment and physical activity among adults. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011; 8:125. Epub 2011 Nov 15.
- 5 Transportation Research Board. Does the built environment influence physical activity? Examining the evidence. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2005.
- 6 Ewing R, Cervero R. Travel and the built environment: a meta-analysis. J Am Plann Assoc. 2010; 76(3):265–294.
- 7 Tolley R, Good for busine\$\$: the benefits of making streets more walking and cycling friendly. Discussion paper. November 2011 [cited August 2014]. Heart Foundation South Australia. Available from: http://www.heartfoundation.org.au/active-living/Documents/Good-for-business.pdf.
- 8 Rosso AL, Auchincloss AH, Michael YL. The urban built environment and mobility in older adults: a comprehensive review. J Aging Res 2011; 2011:816106. Epub 2011 Jul 19.
- 9 Yen IH, Michael YL, Perdue L. Neighborhood environment in studies of health of older adults: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2009; 37(5):455–463. Epub 2009 Oct 21.
- 10 Li F, Fisher K, Brownson R, et al. Multilevel modelling of built environment characteristics related to neighbourhood walking activity in older adults. J Epidemiol Community Health 2005; 59(7):558–564.
- 11 Gauvin L, Richard L, Kestens Y, et al. Living in a well-serviced urban area is associated with maintenance of frequent walking among seniors in the VoisiNuAge study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2012; 67(1):76–88. Epub 2012 Jan 10.
- 12 Griffin BA, Eibner C, Bird CE, et al. The relationship between urban sprawl and coronary heart disease in women. Health Place 2013; 20:51–61.
- 13 Müller-Riemenschneider F, Pereira G, Villanueva K, et al. Neighborhood walkability and cardiometabolic risk factors in Australian adults: an observational study. BMC Public Health 2013; 13(1):1–9.
- 14 Turrell G, Haynes M, Wilson LA, et al. Can the built environment reduce health inequalities? A study of neighbourhood socioeconomic disadvantage and walking for transport. Health Place 2013; 19:89–98. Epub 2012 Dec 5.
- 15 Ding D, Sallis JF, Kerr J, et al. Neighborhood environment and physical activity among youth: a review. Am J Prev Med 2011; 41(4):442–455. Epub 2011 Oct 4.
- 16 Giles-Corti B, Wood G, Pikora T, et al. School site and the potential to walk to school: the impact of street connectivity and traffic exposure in school neighborhoods. Health Place 2011; 17(2):545–550.
- 17 Timperio A, Salmon J, Ball K, et al. Neighborhood characteristics and TV viewing in youth: nothing to do but watch TV? J Sci Med Sport 2012; 15(2):122–128. Epub 2011 Nov 1.
- 18 Foster S, Knuiman M, Hooper P, et al. Do changes in residents' fear of crime impact their walking? Longitudinal results from RESIDE. Prev Med 2014; 62C:161–166. Epub 2014 Feb 21.
- 19 Foster S, Villanueva K, Wood L, et al. The impact of parents' fear of strangers and perceptions of informal social control on children's independent mobility. Health Place 2014; 26:60–68. Epub 2014 Jan 1.
- 20 Handy S, Sallis J, Weber D, et al. Is support for traditionally designed communities growing? Evidence from two national surveys. J Am Plann Assoc 2008; 74:209–221.
- 21 Bax C, de Jong M, Koppenjan J. Implementing evidence-based policy in a network setting: road safety policy in the Netherlands. Public Adm 2010; 88(3):871–884. Epub 2010 Oct 12.



Action area 2 – Workplaces Promote physical activity before, during and after work

Authors

R Plotnikoff,¹ G Healy,² P Morgan,¹ N Gilson,³ S Kennedy¹

- 1 Priority Research Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition, University of Newcastle
- 2 Cancer Prevention Research Centre, University of Queensland
- 3 School of Human Movement Studies, University of Queensland

Suggested citation

Plotnikoff R, Healy G, Morgan P, et al. Action area 2: Workplaces. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Physical activity in the workplace has diminished dramatically over the past five decades,¹ reflecting the rapid increase in computerisation of work. This has led to prolonged sitting, particularly in office and administrative work. Computerisation and mechanisation has also had a negative impact on physical activity in industries such as agriculture, transport and manufacturing, with technology leading to a significant reduction in manual labour.

Consider the case for change:

- Over 11 million Australians² spend an average of eight hours per day in workplaces.
- On average, more than twothirds of the office workday is spent sedentary, with much of this sedentary time accumulated in prolonged, unbroken bouts of 30 minutes or more^{3,4} – a sitting pattern that is particularly detrimental to health.⁵
- There are both long-term and short-term impacts of too much sitting at work, including increased risk of overweight or obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and premature mortality,⁶ an increased number of musculoskeletal conditions^{7,8} and eye strain.⁹
 - There are economic implications associated with these conditions: long-term health conditions such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and musculoskeletal disorders contribute substantially to health expenditure in Australia (estimated to be >\$11 billion).¹⁰

- The workplace is increasingly being recognised (nationally and internationally) as a priority high-reach setting for health behaviour interventions,^{11,12} extending from a labour-based approach to a public health 'healthy workers' approach.¹³
- There is evidence to support the effectiveness of workplace physical activity interventions for improving both health and worksite outcomes, including physical activity behaviour, fitness, body mass index, productivity, work attendance, and job stress.¹⁴ There is also some evidence that these physical activity interventions may reduce sitting time at work.¹⁵
- In general, a physically active workforce can improve physical and mental health, reduce absenteeism and increase productivity, thereby providing important benefits to individuals and workplaces.^{16–18} Workplaces should see the implementation of physical activity programs as a strategic businessenhancement opportunity.

What must be done?

The workplace is an important setting for implementing interventions designed to increase levels of physical activity. These interventions should be multifaceted, addressing individual behaviour-change techniques, massreach approaches (electronic and print media) and social support strategies, along with organisational, policy and physical environment initiatives. Interventions to decrease sitting and increase active travel within the workplace have been shown to have minimal negative effect on working tasks.¹⁷ The following multifaceted interventions will support healthier, more active and more productive workplaces.

Implement workplace policies that support physical activity:

- implement policies that encourage and support active commuting (see Action area 4 – Active travel)¹⁹
- implement workplace active travel policies that provide incentives for staff to use alternative forms of transport to attend meetings (e.g. free bicycles, prepaid public transport cards) and reduce incentives to use private motor vehicles or taxis
- integrate physical activity measures into occupational health and safety (OHS) policies and meetings; include reducing sedentary behaviour as an objective of the OHS committee
- develop and use audits or checklists to assess the degree to which the workplace is 'activitypermissive'.

Plan, develop and retrofit workplace environments to promote physical activity:

- display point-of-decision prompts that encourage people to use stairs instead of a lift wherever possible as a low-cost and effective intervention²⁰
- build walking tracks outside the company or a 'red-line' route to promote lunchtime walking, and provide exercise equipment and space
- provide facilities (such as showers, lockers and secure cycle racks) in the workplace to increase active transport and physical activity levels²¹
- provide appropriate onsite physical activity facilities in the workplace, as well as subsidised access to external exercise, fitness, sports clubs and facilities
- create an activity-permissive environment, including elements such as height-adjustable workstations,²² standing tables in meeting rooms and communal areas, access to safe stairs and centralised bins and printers.

Implement social and community interventions to promote physical activity before, during and after work:

- provide physical activity opportunities during work breaks, including programs such as regular lunchtime walking groups²³
- provide equitable access to programs for people with disabilities
 - gain upper-management support and identify champions to serve

as role models or spokespersons and model behaviour such as promoting standing breaks and participation in physical activity programs

 provide incentives for staff to use alternative forms of transport to attend meetings (e.g. free bicycles) and reduce incentives to use private motor vehicles or taxis.

Assist individuals to understand the benefits of being more active before, during and after work:

- distribute information and provide education about physical activity benefits and physical activity opportunities and programs
- promote the use of stairs and other physical activity facilities within or near the workplace
- communicate the effects of prolonged sitting on health; use software programs to promote standing and screen breaks
- use smartphone technology and social media to prompt participation in organised or unstructured work breaks and physical activity programs
- promote the use of active travel for commuting (for all or part of the journey)
- engage in local promotional activities such as TravelSmart Workplace programs.

See also Action area 4 – Active travel; Action area 5 – Prolonged sitting (sedentary behaviour)





References

- 1 Church TS, Thomas DM, Tudor-Locke C, et al. Trends over 5 decades in US occupation-related physical activity and their associations with obesity. PloS ONE 2011; 6(5):e19657.
- 2 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian social trends, 2014. Cat. no. 4102.0. Canberra: ABS, 2014.
- 3 Healy GN, Eakin EG, Lamontagne AD, et al. Reducing sitting time in office workers: short-term efficacy of a multicomponent intervention. Prev Med 2013; 57(1):43–48.
- 4 Ryde GC, Brown HE, Gilson ND, et al. Are we chained to our desks? Describing desk-based sitting using a novel measure of occupational sitting. J Phys Act Health 2013. Epub 2013 Oct 31.
- 5 Thorp AA, Kingwell BA, Sethi P, et al. Alternating bouts of sitting and standing attenuates postprandial glucose responses. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014. Epub 2014 Mar 14.
- 6 van Uffelen JG, Wong J, Chau JY, et al. Occupational sitting and health risks: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2010; 39(4):379–388.
- 7 Westgaard RH, Winkel J. Guidelines for occupational musculoskeletal load as a basis for intervention: a critical review. Appl Ergon 1996; 27(2):79–88.
- 8 Gerr F, Marcus M, Ensor C, et al. A prospective study of computer users: I. Study design and incidence of musculoskeletal symptoms and disorders. Am J Ind Med 2002; 41(4):221–235.
- 9 Balci R, Aghazadeh F. Effects of exercise breaks on performance, muscular load, and perceived discomfort in data entry and cognitive tasks. Computers & Industrial Engineering 2004; 46(3):399–411.
- 10 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Health system expenditure of diseases and injuries in Australia 2000–01. 2nd edn. Health and welfare series no. 21. Cat. no. HWE 28. Canberra: AIHW, 2005.
- 11 National Preventative Health Taskforce, Australia. The healthiest country by 2020: national preventative health strategy the roadmap for action. Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, 2009.
- 12 World Health Organization. Workers' health: global plan of action. WHO, Sixtieth World Health Assembly: Geneva, 2007.
- 13 World Health Organization. Healthy workplaces: a model for action: for employers, workers, policymakers and practitioners. WHO: Geneva, 2010.
- 14 Conn VS, Hafdahl AR, Cooper PS, et al. Meta-analysis of workplace physical activity interventions. Am J Prev Med 2009; 37(4):330–339.
- 15 Chau JY, der Ploeg HP, van Uffelen JG, et al. Are workplace interventions to reduce sitting effective? A systematic review. Prev Med 2010; 51(5):352–356.
- 16 Pronk NP, Kottke TE. Physical activity promotion as a strategic corporate priority to improve worker health and business performance. Prev Med 2009; 49(4): 316–321.
- 17 Tudor-Locke C, Schuna JM Jr, Frensham LJ, et al. Changing the way we work: elevating energy expenditure with workstation alternatives. Int J Obes 2013. Epub 2013 Nov 28.
- 18 Brown HE, Ryde GC, Gilson ND, et al. Objectively measured sedentary behavior and physical activity in office employees: relationships with presenteeism. J Occup Environ Med 2013; 55(8):945–953.
- 19 Mutrie N, Carney C, Blamey A, et al. 'Walk in to work out': a randomised controlled trial of a self help intervention to promote active commuting. J Epidemiol Community Health 2002; 56(6):407–412.
- 20 Dugdill L, Brettle A, Hulme C, et al. Workplace physical activity interventions: a systematic review. Int J Workplace Health Manag 2008; 1(1):20–40.
- 21 Anderson LM, McQueen DV. Informing public health policy with the best available evidence. Evidence-based public health: effectiveness and efficiency. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010:437–447.
- 22 Gilson ND, Burton NW, van Uffelen JGZ, et al. Occupational sitting time: employees' perceptions of health risks and intervention strategies. Health Promot J Austr 2011; 22(1):38–43.
- 23 Gilson ND, Faulkner G, Murphy MH et al., Walk@work: an automated intervention to increase walking in university employees not achieving 10,000 daily steps. Prev Med 2013; 56(5):283–287.





Action area 3 – Health care

Develop healthcare systems that promote and support physical activity participation

Authors

K Milton,¹ B Smith², F Bull³

1 School of Public Health, University of Sydney

- 2 Department of Epidemiology and Preventative Medicine, Monash University
- 3 Centre for the Built Environment and Health, University of Western Australia

Suggested citation

Milton K, Smith B, Bull F. Action area 3: Health care. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🚴 Why is this important?

The primary-care sector – which includes general practitioners, Aboriginal health workers and allied health professionals - delivers the vast majority of health care in Australia,¹ reaching all ages and most population groups. Around 82% of the Australian population attends a general practice at least once a year.² This sizeable sector of our healthcare system is considered by most a credible source of health advice,3 and many studies suggest that the sector can offer valued encouragement and support for physical activity.4-6 There is a strong case for enabling the primarycare sector to fulfil its potential as a gateway to increasing physical activity levels.

Consider the case for change:

- Promotion of physical activity at the primary-care level has a role to play in reducing the risk of developing chronic disease or managing existing chronic health conditions.
- There is a range of approaches to physical activity promotion within the healthcare setting. Common approaches include brief advice and/or counselling, referral to structured exercise programs and provision of information and printed resources.
- Strategies for promoting physical activity can involve a range of health professionals including general practitioners, practice nurses, community nurses, Aboriginal health workers and other allied health professionals.
- Primary-care-based interventions solely targeting physical activity



 as well as those delivered in combination with interventions for other risk factors such as diet, smoking and alcohol – have been found to be effective.⁷

- Most interventions to promote physical activity in the primarycare setting are cost-effective.⁸
- For people with chronic conditions such as coronary heart disease, diabetes, osteoporosis, arthritis and cancer, the healthcare setting is an important vehicle for promoting physical activity.
- Although physical activity promotion through primary health services has traditionally targeted adults, research suggests that this may be an appropriate and effective setting for promoting physical activity among other population groups including children⁹ and older adults.⁷

•

What must be done?

The primary-care sector has frequent contact with people of all ages and from all cultural and socioeconomic population groups. These interactions should be better used to increase the rate of physical activity participation. The following interventions are required to support the sector to fulfil its potential as a gateway to promotion of physical activity.

Implement policies that support the integration of physical activity into the primary-care sector's disease prevention and management strategies:

- integrate physical activity and chronic disease prevention into the standard training packages available to health professionals; this training should include information on the health benefits of physical activity; screening patients for physical activity, counselling and risk stratification; and exercise 'prescription'
- develop simplified guidelines and protocols for integrating physical activity assessment and promotion in the healthcare setting, including screening for physical activity in all health checks, including those for children, adults, older adults and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations
- develop policies and guidelines for integrating physical activity into chronic-disease care plans and risk-reduction strategies; associated referral, counselling and follow-up support should be appropriately funded through

adjustments to primary-care funding mechanisms such as the Medicare Benefits Scheme and/ or Practice Incentive Payment program

- expand Medicare Benefits Scheme eligibility to allied health practitioners, practice nurses and Aboriginal health workers to cover the delivery of counselling and referral to physical activity programs
- federal government to invest in the delivery of accessible and affordable evidence-based physical activity programs; these services to be made available through primary-care referral for people who are at risk of or have a chronic condition
- consider the use of incentives for primary healthcare practitioners to integrate physical activity into routine protocols
- incorporate the promotion of physical activity in the healthcare setting with other national health promotion initiatives to help to support greater awareness among the general public of the physicalactivity-related services available through the healthcare system.

Implement interventions in healthcare services to increase physical activity rates among practice populations:

- provide information and training for primary-care practitioners on physical activity promotion:
 - all healthcare practitioners should undertake training on the role of physical activity in preventing and treating a range of health conditions

- develop and disseminate clear standardised protocols for the routine promotion of physical activity in the primary-care setting
 - determine effective ways to use the range of primary healthcare staff, including general practitioners, practice nurses, community nurses and other allied health professionals
 - ensure physical activity assessment and promotion is an integral component of all health checks, including those for children, adults, older adults and Indigenous populations
 - incorporate physical activity into the management plans and care plans for all patients with long-term conditions
 - develop feasible protocols and practice-level systems for providing follow-up support to patients related to physical activity
 - ensure provision of affordable, safe and evidence-based physical activity programs and opportunities
 - health professionals should be provided with information on local opportunities to be physically active
 - ensure that appropriate and supervised activities are available for highrisk patients who might need specialist advice and supervision while exercising; for example, through programs such as Heart Moves

- improved links between healthcare and physical activity providers should be developed so that patients are provided with opportunities that are wellmatched to their interests, as well as their needs
- ensure robust elevation of physical activity initiatives in the primary-care setting
 - physical-activity-related interventions should incorporate a minimum standard of monitoring and evaluation to support an assessment of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.



References

- 1 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2012. Australia's health series no.13. Cat. no. AUS 156. Canberra: AIHW, 2012.
- 2 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Patient experiences in Australia: summary of findings, 2010–11. 2012 [cited 2014 Mar 26]. Available from: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4839.0main+features32010-11.
- 3 Croteau K, Schofield G, McLean G. Physical activity advice in the primary care setting: results of a population study in New Zealand. Aust NZ J Public Health 2006; 30(3):262–267.
- 4 Sallis J, Owen N. Physical activity and behavioural medicine. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1999.
- 5 Glasgow RE, Eakin EG, Fisher EB, et al. Physician advice and support for physical activity: results from a national survey. Am J Prev Med 2001; 21(3):189–196. Epub 2001 Sept 25.
- 6 Kreuter MW, Chheda SG, Bull FC. How does physician advice influence patient behavior? Evidence for a priming effect. Arch Fam Med 2000; 9(5):426–433. Epub 2000 May 16.
- 7 Neidrick TJ, Fick DM, Loeb SJ. Physical activity promotion in primary care targeting the older adult. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2012; 24(7):405–416. Epub 2012 Jun 28.
- 8 Garrett S, Elley CR, Rose SB, et al. Are physical activity interventions in primary care and the community cost-effective? A systematic review of the evidence. Br J Gen Pract 2011; 61(584):e125–133. Epub 2011 Mar 8.
- 9 Prochaska JJ, Sallis JF. A randomized controlled trial of single versus multiple health behavior change: promoting physical activity and nutrition among adolescents. Health Psychol 2004; 23:314–318.





Action area 4 – Active travel

Encourage more walking, cycling and public transport use

Authors

M Burke,¹ J Stanley,² M Duncan,³ J Stone,⁴ B Giles-Corti⁵

- 1 Urban Research Program, Griffith University
- 2 University of Sydney Business School
- 3 School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Newcastle
- 4 Urban Planning Program, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, University of Melbourne
- 5 McCaughey VicHealth Centre for Community Wellbeing, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne

Suggested citation

Burke, M, Stanley J, Duncan M, et al. Action area 4: Active transport. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🚴 Why is this important?

Walking and cycling for recreation and transport, and greater use of public transport, is good for health, the environment and the economy. Many Australians struggle to find the time to participate in physical activity. Active travel is an efficient means of incorporating physical activity into our daily lives of commuting, working, learning and socialising.

Past and present policies and practices promote the development of car-oriented built environments and car use, limiting the potential for healthier active transport.

Consider the case for change:

- Physical activity, including walking and cycling, plays an important role in reducing the risk of cardiovascular and other chronic diseases and brings with it a wide variety of benefits for physical and mental health, as well as social and community health.^{1–2}
- Co-benefits of increasing walking, cycling and public transport use include:
 - health outcomes
 - sustainability through reducing motor vehicle dependence, air and noise pollution, greenhouse gases, energy use and sprawl
 - economic impacts such as reduced cost of passenger transport and infrastructure
 - improved traffic management, including reduced congestion
 - community impacts such as reducing the loss of social

connections in communities and road rage, and increasing public safety

- greater equity, including improving transport choices for disadvantaged or vulnerable groups.^{3–6}
- In the last four decades, there has been a rapid decline in the number of children walking or cycling to school^{7–9} and few adults participate in walking or cycling as a mode of transport.¹⁰
- Observational studies have consistently shown that children who walk or cycle to school engage in more physical activity than those who travel by other means.^{11–12} Commuters who use public transport engage in more physical activity than car drivers.¹³ For example, public transport users in Melbourne achieve over 40 minutes of incidental exercise a day, compared with less than 10 minutes for car users.¹⁴ The odds of achieving 10,000 steps per day were 3.55 times higher in a study of university students who commuted by public transport, compared with drivers.¹⁵ One study found that women who increased their walking distance and speed lowered their risk of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and all-cause mortality.¹⁶
- There is now strong evidence that the way we build cities, communities and neighbourhoods affects the travel behaviour choices of both adults^{3,5,17–18} and children,¹⁹ and the safety of vulnerable road users.²⁰

What must be done?

Combinations of interventions are required to effectively promote walking and cycling to increase the activity levels of sedentary people, including the provision of safe travel environments. These interventions require action at all three tiers of government and can be supported by business and professionals, particularly urban planners, developers, transport planners, engineers and building designers. Workplaces and schools are also ideally placed to promote active travel options to staff and students.

The following interventions are recommended to support the integration of active travel into the daily lives of people in Australia.

Implement policies that facilitate an increase in the availability and uptake of active travel modes:

- federal government to appoint a minister responsible for major cities and urban development; this portfolio should provide policy leadership on major cities, urban development and transport planning that embeds principles of healthy living and sustainability
- state governments to produce and implement integrated landuse strategies that are overseen by the premier's office and embed principles of healthy living and sustainability
- provide federal funding to improve public transport infrastructure
- improve the integration of landuse, transport and infrastructure

planning to achieve compact, liveable neighbourhoods that are served by public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure and other social infrastructure

- reorient transport policy, planning and funding to prioritise investment in walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure; allocate resources proportionally to need, concentrating initially on underserviced areas, including developments on the urban fringe
- ensure that federal transport infrastructure funding and policy mechanisms resource public transport projects and cost road projects in accordance with the total cost to community, taking into account congestion, pollution and health-related impacts (pricing of road use and other financial measures²¹ are explored further in Action area 11 – Financial measures)
- restrict motor vehicle access and the availability of parking at town centres, universities, airports and other highly congested environments by implementing congestion pricing or other comparable pricing schemes and by providing high-quality public transport access; reclaim streets in these locations for public transport, designated pedestrian areas and shared space
- include walking and cycling infrastructure as part of all government-funded urban transport projects
 - require health-impact assessments to be undertaken on
larger-scale urban and transport planning developments and policies

- integrate health-planning principles and active-living design codes in urban planning, design and development policies and regulations
- reduce posted street speeds in local streets to 30km/h to increase safety for cyclists and pedestrians, and to create a more welcoming environment for children²²
- introduce minimum net-density thresholds for the development of compact mixed-use neighbourhoods that promote pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly environments and reduce car dependency
- introduce minimum netdensity thresholds for suburban developments to create compact mixed-use neighbourhoods that promote pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly environments and reduce car dependency, as well as increase the viability and accessibility of local businesses, public transport and local amenities; offset high-density developments with increased access to public open space.

Plan, develop and retrofit the built environment to support active travel:

 provide for supportive active transport infrastructure such as footpaths and cycle paths, bicycle-parking facilities, shade and way-showing signage, as well as public toilets, seating and other amenities in key activity centres

- improve the coverage, frequency and operating hours of public transport and make more effective use of existing assets, including through the restructuring of the public transport network
- increase the accessibility of public transport by improving pedestrian and bicycle access and networks around stations
- integrate cycling and public transport by increasing storage options for cyclists at public transport stations
- connect major public transport, shopping and employment centres, schools and universities to separated cycling infrastructure
- ensure that schools are sited in neighbourhoods with connected street networks and low levels of traffic exposure, and have catchment sizes designed to encourage active travel²³
- provide shower facilities and cycling infrastructure in all workplaces (e.g. include shower facilities in all disability-access toilets and bicycle parking in front of and in car parks of buildings)
- increase the segregation of cyclists from motor vehicles, on separate bicycle paths or on protected bicycle lanes, except in very low speed environments
- provide end-of-trip cycling infrastructure, such as safe cycle-parking facilities and lockers at workplaces, schools, universities, public transport hubs, shopping centres and public facilities such as libraries and community centres

• introduce designated car dropoff zones linked by safe walking routes 500 metres from schools to reduce traffic danger at school gates and encourage physical activity.

Implement social and community interventions that promote active travel:

- support improvements to Australia's public bicycle hire schemes, including easier access and integration with public transport ticketing
- subsidise the cost of public transport, especially for people living in outer metropolitan areas
- enable bicycles to be taken aboard trains and buses where appropriate
- invest in active school travel programs to encourage more walking and cycling to school
- encourage independent mobility for older children including:
 - a school coordinator who promotes and enables active travel
 - regular mass participation events such as 'walking, wheeling Wednesdays'
 - safe routes to school, with mapped routes and safer crossings
 - road safety and bicycle education programs
- reduce car-parking subsidies in workplaces and use this funding to support subsidised public transport programs for employees

- provide incentives for staff to use alternative forms of transport to attend meetings (e.g. free bicycles, prepaid public transport cards) and, where possible, reduce incentives to use private motor vehicles or taxis
- limit the parking available for staff who live close to their workplace.

Support individuals to understand and advocate for the benefits of active travel:

- support and promote walking programs that target key groups including seniors; raise awareness of the value of walking
- implement social marketing and advocacy initiatives to mobilise community members to demand more active transport investment and healthier communities and neighbourhoods
- increase driver awareness of cyclists and ensure legal liability regimes place an appropriate responsibility upon car drivers in the event of a crash
- conduct localised promotional activities such as workplace travel behaviour-change programs
- educate consumers about the availability and importance of using walkability and other active-living tools when deciding where to live.

See also Action area 1 – Built environments; Action area 9 – Children and adolescents; Action area 11 – Financial measures

- 1 Armstrong T, Bauman A, Davies J. Physical activity patterns of Australian adults: results of the 1999 National Physical Activity Survey. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2000.
- 2 US Department of Health and Human Services. Physical activity and health: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Centre for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 1996.
- 3 Newman P, Kenworthy J. Sustainable urban form: the big picture. In: Williams K, Burton E, Jenks M, editors. Achieving sustainable urban form. London: E & FN Spon, 2000:109–120.
- 4 Newman P. Human settlements: health and the physical environment. In: Eckersley R, Dixon J, Douglas R, editors. The social origins of health and well-being. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001:159–177.
- 5 Newman P, Kenworthy J. Sustainability and cities: overcoming automobile dependence. Washington: Island Press, 1999.
- 6 Newton P. Australia state of the environment 2001 (theme report). Canberra: CSIRO Publishing, 2001.
- 7 Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. 2007 Australian National Children's Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey: main findings. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2008.
- 8 Tranter P, Whitelegg J. Children's travel behaviours in Canberra: car dependent lifestyles in a low-density city. J Transp Geogr 1994; 2(4):265–273.
- 9 Hillman M, Agams J, Whitelegg J. One false move ... A study of children's independent mobility. London: PSI Publishing, 1990.
- 10 McCormack G, Giles-Corti B, Lange A, et al. An update of recent evidence of the relationship between objective and self-report measures of the physical environment and physical activity behaviours. J Sci Med Sport 2004; 7(1):81–92.
- 11 Cooper A, Page A, Foster L, et al. Commuting to school: are children who walk more physically active? Am J Prev Med 2003; 25:273–276.
- 12 Tudor-Locke C, Ainsworth B, Adair L, et al. Objective physical activity of Filipino youth stratified for commuting mode to school. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35:465–471.
- 13 Morabia A, Mirer FE, Amstislavski TM, et al. Potential health impact of switching from car to public transportation when commuting to work. Am J Public Health 2010; 100(12):2388–2391. Epub 2010 Oct 23.
- 14 Bus Association of Victoria. Public transport use a ticket to health. Briefing paper. Port Melbourne: BusVic, 2010.
- 15 Villanueva K, Giles-Corti B, McCormack G. Achieving 10,000 steps: a comparison of public transport users and drivers in a university setting. Prev Med 2008; 47(3):338–341. Epub 2008 Apr 26.
- 16 Manson J, Greenland P, LaCroix A, et al. Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. N Engl J Med 2002; 347(10):716–725.
- 17 Buxton M. Energy, transport and urban form in Australia. In: Williams K, Burton E, Jenks M, et al., editors. Achieving sustainable urban form. London: E & FN Spon, 2000:54–63.
- 18 Naess P. Energy use for transport in 22 Nordic towns. Oslo: Norwegian Institute for Urban and Regional Research, 1993.
- 19 Lynch K. Growing up in cities: studies of the spatial environment of adolescence in Cracow, Melbourne, Mexico City, Salta, Toluca and Warszawa. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1977.
- 20 Washington S, Haworth N, Schramm A. Relationships between self-reported bicycling injuries and perceived risk of cyclists in Queensland. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 2012; 2314(1):57–65.
- 21 Santos G, Fraser G. Road pricing: lessons from London. Economic Policy 2006; 21(46):263–310.
- 22 Bax C, de Jong M, Koppenjan J. Implementing evidence-based policy in a network setting: road safety policy in the Netherlands. Public Adm 2010; 88(3):871–884. Epub 2010 Oct 12.
- 23 Giles-Corti B, Wood G, Pikora T, et al. School site and the potential to walk to school: the impact of street connectivity and traffic exposure in school neighborhoods. Health Place 2011; 17(2):545–550.



Action area 5 – Prolonged sitting (sedentary behaviour)

Promote opportunities and approaches to reduced prolonged sitting

Authors

D Dunstan,¹ G Healy,² N Owen,¹ J Salmon,³ N Ridgers,³ T Okely,⁴ D Cliff,⁴ M Daley,⁵ A Bauman⁶

- 1 Baker IDI Heart and Diabetes Institute
- 2 School of Population Health, Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland
- 3 Centre for Physical Activity & Nutrition Research, Deakin University
- 4 Interdisciplinary Educational Research Institute at University of Wollongong
- 5 National Heart Foundation of Australia
- 6 School of Public Health, University of Sydney

Suggested citation

Dunstan D, Healy G, Owen N, et al. Action area 5: Prolonged sitting. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Sitting is one of the most common physical human behaviours and, for many Australians, this is the position in which they spend much of their everyday life.¹

Sitting time (sedentary behaviour), as distinct from too little exercise or physical activity, is now being recognised as a population-wide, ever-present health risk, manifested in children, adults and older people.² Even for those people who meet the public health recommendation (for adults, 30 minutes of moderate exercise on most days each week), there are adverse metabolic consequences for people who sit for seven to ten hours or more each day.³ The Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines published by the Australian Government's Department of Health now contains explicit messages relating to sitting time that are specific to age groupings, advocating that, to reduce health risks, 'minimise the amount of time spent in prolonged sitting' and 'break up long periods of sitting as often as possible'.4

Consider the case for change:

- There are both long-term and short-term impacts of too much sitting. These include increased risk of overweight or obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and premature mortality,^{5,6} an increased number of musculoskeletal conditions^{7,8} and eye strain.⁹
- There are economic implications associated with these conditions: long-term health conditions such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and



musculoskeletal disorders contribute substantially to health expenditure in Australia (estimated to be >\$11 billion).¹⁰

- Children and adolescents spend approximately 64% of the whole day and 60% of the school day sitting, yet the National Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines recommend that children 'not be sedentary, restrained or kept inactive for more than 1 hour at a time during waking hours'.^{11,12}
- Sedentary time increases most during the transition from primary school to high school, and older adolescents are the second-most sedentary group in the population after older people.¹³
- In young people, particularly overweight and obese children or those at increased risk of poor cardiovascular health, sedentary time has been shown to be adversely associated



with cardiorespiratory fitness,¹⁴ adiposity,¹⁵ insulin sensitivity¹⁶ and HDL cholesterol,¹⁷ after accounting for participation in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity during leisure time.

- On average, Australian adults sit for nearly nine hours per day. A considerable proportion of the time spent sitting throughout the day is accrued in bouts of 30 minutes or more (prolonged sitting).¹⁸
- High levels of sitting time (>8 hours per day) have been linked to several adverse health outcomes, including type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and premature death.¹⁹
- People may meet the physical activity guidelines (≥150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity per week) and yet sit for many hours each day.
- Evidence suggests that the potentially harmful effects of sitting may only be partially mitigated in adults who are physically active or who exercise during leisure time.¹⁹

- New evidence suggests that, no matter what the total sitting time is, regular interruptions from sitting (even as little as standing up) may help to reduce risk factors for developing coronary heart disease and diabetes.²⁰
- Particular sedentary behaviours occur commonly in a variety of settings (sedentary behavioural settings): television viewing and other recreational screen time (i.e. computer use) in domestic environments; classrooms and workplaces, which require prolonged sitting in environments that are increasingly screen-based; and prolonged sitting time in transportation.^{21,22}
- Time spent sitting in different sedentary behaviour settings (domestic, school, workplace, transportation, aged care) is likely to have distinct determinants; as such, behaviours will be shaped by the attributes of the settings in which they occur and the social frame around such settings.^{21,22}
- Emerging evidence from recent intervention studies indicates that it is feasible to reduce television viewing time in overweight and obese adults²³ and to reduce adults' sitting time in some settings (e.g. officebased workplaces,²⁴ aged-care and retirement facilities).²⁵

What must be done?

Sitting time can be highly contextually driven and often is dictated by the setting in which it occurs. Sitting occurs across the key domains of workplace, school, childcare, agedcare, transportation and domestic settings. Accordingly, initiatives to reduce sitting are likely to be most effective when implemented with attention to individual behaviour and environmental and organisational drivers. Importantly, such settingbased approaches have strong potential for rapid, scalable and potentially sustainable changes in sitting time.^{21,22} The following interventions are recommended to support these changes.

Implement policies that reduce the amount of time people spend sitting:

- develop evidence-based policies for use in schools, workplaces, aged services and other settings to guide the reduction of prolonged and total sitting time
- change education curricula to integrate movement into traditional academic areas²⁶
- integrate reduction of sitting time and sedentary behaviour into national policies and guidelines on physical activity and chronic disease prevention with reference to best-practice frameworks (e.g. WHO Workplace Health Promotion Framework)²⁷ that attend to the organisational, individual and environmental drivers of prolonged sitting
- develop workplace policies that encourage and support

regular changes between sitting and standing postures, as well facilitating incidental movement throughout the day: for example, 'stand up, sit less, move more, more often'

 establish best-practice frameworks and supporting materials for organisations seeking to adopt changes that target reductions in workplace sitting time.

Plan, develop and retrofit environments to discourage sitting:

- design workplace, institutional and educational environments that are activity-permissive
- provide both sitting and standing options in environments with which individuals interact on a daily basis: for example, transportation, work and domestic settings; this includes providing height-adjustable desks and workstations.

Implement social and community interventions that reduce sitting:

- to reduce prolonged sitting, introduce activity breaks and modify typical activities that normally involve sitting
- provide early childhood educators and school teachers with evidence-based information about the benefits of breaking up total sitting during childcare and school times
- develop initiatives and programs to reduce total time spent sitting while at work or school, including low-cost approaches such as using visual prompts to avoid prolonged sitting, conducting standing and

walking meetings or creating standing agenda items within meetings or classes²⁸

 develop criteria for reducing sedentary time that are relevant to the circumstances and needs of older adults, particularly those with functional limitation and disabilities and who are living with chronic disease.

Help individuals understand the health effects of too much sitting:

 introduce family-based educational approaches that encourage parents to limit their children's total sitting time, particularly their recreational screen time (e.g. via web-based resources and information from schools); parents monitor and then selectively or nonselectively target a reduction in recreational screen-time pursuits²⁹

 educate workers and students how to safely operate to best effect height-adjustable furniture.

See also Action area 2 – Workplaces; Action area 4 – Active travel; Action area 9 – Children and adolescents

- 1 Owen N, Healy GN, Matthews CE, et al. Too much sitting: the population health science of sedentary behavior. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2010; 38(3):105–113.
- 2 Bauman A, Chau J, Ding D, et al. Too much sitting and cardio-metabolic risk: an update of epidemiological evidence. Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep 2013; 7(4):293–298. Epub 2013 May 29.
- 3 Dunstan D, Howard B, Healy G, et al. Too much sitting: a health hazard. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012; 97(3):368–376. Epub 2012 Jun 9.
- 4 Australian Government Department of Health. Australia's physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines. 2014 [cited February 7 2014]. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-strateg-phys-act-guidelines.
- 5 Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia 2012; 55(11):2895–2905. Epub 2012 Aug 15.
- 6 Thorp AA, Owen N, Neuhaus M, et al. Sedentary behaviors and subsequent health outcomes in adults a systematic review of longitudinal studies, 1996–2011. Am J Prev Med 2011; 41(2):207–215. Epub 2011 Jul 20.
- 7 Westgaard RH, Winkel J. Guidelines for occupational musculoskeletal load as a basis for intervention: a critical review. Appl Ergon 1996; 27(2):79–88.
- 8 Gerr F, Marcus M, Ensor C, et al. A prospective study of computer users: I. Study design and incidence of musculoskeletal symptoms and disorders. Am J Ind Med 2002; 41(4):221–235.
- 9 Balci R, Aghazadeh F. Effects of exercise breaks on performance, muscular load, and perceived discomfort in data entry and cognitive tasks. Computers & Industrial Engineering 2004; 46(3):399–411.
- 10 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Health system expenditure of diseases and injuries in Australia 2000–01. 2nd edn. Health and welfare series no. 21. Cat. no. HWE 28. Canberra: AIHW, 2005.
- 11 Carson V, Salmon J, Arundell L, et al. Examination of mid-intervention mediating effects on objectively assessed sedentary time among children in the Transform-Us! cluster-randomized controlled trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013; 10(1):62. Epub 2013 May 22.
- 12 Ridgers ND, Salmon J, Ridley K, et al. Agreement between activPAL and ActiGraph for assessing children's sedentary time. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012; 9(15):15. Epub 2012 Feb 22.

- 13 Matthews CE, Chen KY, Freedson PS, et al. Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviours in the United States, 2003–2004. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 167(7):875–881.
- 14 Santos R, Mota J, Okely AD, et al. The independent associations of sedentary behaviour and physical activity on cardiorespiratory fitness. Br J Sports Med 2013. Epub 2013 Feb 14.
- 15 Mitchell JA, Pate RR, Beets MW, et al. Time spent in sedentary behavior and changes in childhood BMI: a longitudinal study from ages 9 to 15 years. Int J Obes 2013; 37(1):54–60.
- 16 Henderson M, Gray-Donald K, Mathieu ME, et al. How are physical activity, fitness, and sedentary behavior associated with insulin sensitivity in children? Diabetes Care 2012; 35(6):1272–1278.
- 17 Cliff DP, Okely AD, Burrows TL, et al. Objectively measured sedentary behavior, physical activity, and plasma lipids in overweight and obese children. Obesity 2013; 21(2):382–385.
- 18 Tanamas S, Magliano D, Lynch BM, et al. AusDiab 2012: The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study. Baker IDI Heart and Diabetes Institute, 2013.
- 19 Brown W, Bauman A, Bull F, et al. Development of evidence-based physical activity recommendations for adults (18–64 years). Report for the Australian Government Department of Health, 2012.
- 20 Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW, et al. Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003–06. Eur Heart J 2011; 32(5):590–597.
- 21 Owen N, Salmon J, Koohsari MJ, et al. Sedentary behaviour and health: mapping environmental and social contexts to underpin chronic disease prevention. Br J Sports Med 2014; 48(3):174–177. Epub 2014 Jan 15.
- 22 Owen N, Sugiyama T, Eakin E, et al. Adults' sedentary behavior determinants and interventions. Am J Prev Med 2011; 41:189–196.
- 23 Healy G, Eakin E, LaMontagne A, et al. Reducing sitting time in office workers: short-term efficacy of a multicomponent intervention. Prev Med 2013; 57(1):43–48.
- 24 Gardiner PA, Eakin EG, Healy GN, et al. Feasibility of reducing older adults' sedentary time. Am J Prev Med 2011; 41(2):174–177.
- 25 Otten JJ, Jones KE, Littenberg B, et al. Effects of television viewing reduction on energy intake and expenditure in overweight and obese adults: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169(22):2109–2115.
- 26 Trost SG, Fees B, Dzewaktiwski D. Feasibility and efficacy of a 'move and learn' physical activity curriculum in preschool children. J Phys Act Health 2008; 5(1):88–103.
- 27 World Health Organization. Healthy workplaces: a model for action. For employers, workers, policymakers and practitioners. Geneva: WHO, 2010.
- 28 Gilson N, Straker L, Parry S. Occupational sitting: practitioner perceptions of health risks, intervention strategies and influences. Health Promot J Austr 2012; 23(3):208–212.
- 29 Robinson TN. Children's television viewing to prevent obesity: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999; 282(16):1561– 1567.



Action area 6 – Sport and active recreation Increase physical activity levels through sport and active recreation

Authors

J Salmon,¹ R Foreman,² R Eime,³ H Brown,⁴ S Hodge,⁵ K Milton⁶

- 1 Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, Deakin University
- 2 National Heart Foundation of Australia
- 3 Federation University, Victoria University and VicHealth Research Practice Fellow Physical Activity
- 4 School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University
- 5 Cycling Promotion Fund
- 6 School of Public Health, University of Sydney

Suggested citation

Salmon J, Foreman R, Eime R, et al. Action area 6: Sport and active recreation. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🚴 Why is this important?

Sport and active recreation play an important role in increasing the physical activity levels of Australians.¹ Sport has been defined as 'a human activity involving physical exertion and skill as the primary focus of the activity, with elements of competition where rules and patterns of behaviour governing the activity exist formally through organisations, and is generally recognised as a sport'.¹ Active recreation has been defined as those activities 'engaged in for the purpose of relaxation, health and wellbeing or enjoyment with the primary activity requiring physical exertion, and the primary focus on human activity'.1 Participation in these activities is linked positively to physical, social and cognitive health.

Consider the case for change:

- Sport and active recreation contribute positively to the development of confidence and social skills, social inclusion, community development, health and wellbeing, diversion from antisocial behaviour and improved self-esteem and health-related quality of life in children and youth.^{2,3} Additional benefits for children include improved fundamental movement skills and physical fitness.⁴
- A 'sport for all' approach that encourages enjoyable participation in sport and active recreation across the life span is recommended in the Global Advocacy for Physical Activity⁵ list of seven best investments for physical activity to make a difference to the health of nations.

- Adults who participate in sport are 20–40% less likely to die prematurely from all causes compared with nonparticipants.⁶ Sport participation is also associated with improved wellbeing, and reduced stress and distress.³
- Sport contributes significantly to Australia's economy, with the sports sector directly employing 75,000 Australians (1% of the total workforce). Households spend A\$8.4 billion on sporting services and products every year and the export of sporting goods averages A\$442 million per year.⁷
- The last Exercise, Recreation and Sport Survey,⁸ conducted in 2010, highlighted that
 - 47.7% of the adult population (from 15 years) participated at least three times per week in physical activities for exercise, recreation or sport.
 - Between 2001 and 2010, overall increases in regular physical activity were mainly due to an increase in participation in non-organised activities, which increased from 11% to 38.5%. There was also a small increase in participation in organised physical activity in the same period (from 9% to 12%).
 - The top ten physical activities in 2010, in terms of total participation, were walking (36%), aerobics and fitness (24%), swimming (13%), cycling (12%), running (11%), golf (7%), tennis (6%), bushwalking (5%), outdoor football (5%) and netball (4%).

 In 2012, it was estimated that 60% of children (5–14 years) had participated in at least one organised sport outside of school hours, spending an average of five hours in the last school fortnight playing and training.⁹

What must be done?

The following initiatives are recommended to promote and increase participation in sport and active recreation. Investment by governments, organisations and clubs involved in delivering sport and active recreation activities will be essential to support these initiatives. The following interventions are recommended.

Implement policies to promote sport and active recreation:

- fund local government to maintain, improve and expand local sporting and recreation facilities
- develop public open-space policies and strategies to ensure residents have access to a range of open spaces for both sport and active recreation in their neighbourhood
- develop and implement sports injury prevention policies and guidance for use by organising bodies and clubs
- facilitate cooperation between government departments responsible for education curricula and sport and active recreation to promote sharing of facilities and links between schools and external sporting clubs

- strengthen the corporate and governance structures of sports and recreation organisations to sustain and expand their work and relevance in the community
- fund sport and recreation clubs to provide subsidised access to club membership, participation and equipment, prioritising clubs operating in socioeconomically disadvantaged and rural areas.

Improve sport and recreational facilities:

 improve the quality and functions of public open spaces (e.g. aesthetics, facilities, amenities) to attract more user groups to sport and active recreation.

Promote participation in sport and active recreation among at-risk groups and across the lifespan:

- develop programs to promote and maintain participation during key life transitions and events such as leaving secondary school, changes in employment and changes in family structure; retirement presents a significant opportunity to promote engagement in sport and active recreation with increased available leisure time¹⁰
- provide training and education of high-quality coaches at all levels of sport¹¹
- encourage children to participate in developmentally appropriate sports at an early age and maintain this for as long as possible
- provide separate opportunities for sport and recreation by sex (e.g. ensure girls from culturally

diverse backgrounds have the opportunity to use public swimming pools; provide separate classes for girls and boys)

- implement programs specifically for women and adolescent girls and for people from disadvantaged backgrounds or communities¹²⁻¹⁵
- provide opportunities in regional and rural areas that enable elite participants to stay in these areas
- use sport as a tool to create positive social change and tackle social issues, including health, unemployment, conflict resolution, gang-related violence and education

- provide subsidised fees for sporting club membership or active recreational services for children in families that experience socioeconomic disadvantage
- cater to the needs of all abilities by targeting barriers such as lack of knowledge and skills, negative attitudes to disability, lack of transport and programs, and staff capacity and cost.¹⁶

See also Action area 1 – Built environments; Action area 7– Disadvantaged populations; Action area 9 – Children and adolescents



- 1 Commonwealth of Australia. National Sport and Active Recreation Policy Framework. Canberra: Commonweath of Australia, 2011.
- 2 Vella SA, Cliff DP, Magee CA, et al. Sports participation and parent-reported health-related quality of life in children: longitudinal associations. J Pediatr 2014; 164(6):1469–1474. Epub 2014 Mar 25.
- 3 Eime RM, Young JA, Harvey JT, et al. A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013; 10:98.
- 4 Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Cliff DP, et al. Fundamental movement skills in children and adolescents. Sports Med 2010; 40(12):1019–1035.
- 5 Global Advocacy for Physical Activity. NCD prevention: Investments that work for physical activity. February 2011 [cited June 27 2014]. Available from: http://www.globalpa.org.uk/investments/.
- 6 Khan KM, Thompson AM, Blair SN, et al. Sport and exercise as contributors to the health of nations. Lancet 2012; 380(9836):59–64. Epub 2012 Jul 10.
- 7 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian social trends. Cat. no. 4102.0. Canberra: ABS, 2011.
- 8 Australian Sports Commission. Participation in Exercise, Recreation and Sport Survey: 2010 annual report. Standing Committee on Recreation and Sport. Canberra: Australian Government, 2011.
- 9 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Children's participation in cultural and leisure activities. Cat. no. 4901.0. Canberra: ABS, 2012.
- 10 Hirvensalo M, Lintunen T. Life-course perspective for physical activity and sports participation. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act 2011; 8(1):13–22.
- 11 Mountjoy M, Andersen LB, Armstrong N, et al. International Olympic Committee consensus statement on the health and fitness of young people through physical activity and sport. Br J Sports Med 2011; 45(11):839–848. Epub 2011 Aug 13.
- 12 Ministerial Advisory Committee on Women and Girls in Sport and Recreation. Start playing, Stay playing: a summary of the evidence and stakeholder insights into women's and girls' participation in sport and active recreation. October 2013 [cited August 2014]. Department of National Parks, Sport and Racing, Queensland. Available from: http://www.nprsr.qld.gov.au/get-active/pdf/women-girls/start-playing-stay-playing-appendix.pdf.
- 13 Eime R, Payne W, Casey M, et al. Transition in participation in sport and unstructured physical activity for rural living adolescent girls. Health Educ Res 2010; 25(2):282–293.
- 14 Casey MM, Eime RM, Payne WR, et al. Using a socioecological approach to examine participation in sport and physical activity among rural adolescent girls. Qual Health Res 2009; 19(7):881–893. Epub 2009 Jun 27.
- 15 Camacho-Minano M, LaVoi NM, Barr-Anderson DJ. Interventions to promote physical activity among young and adolescent girls: a systematic review. Health Educ Res 2011; 26(6):1025–1049.
- 16 Shields N, Synnot AJ, Barr M. Perceived barriers and facilitators to physical activity for children with disability: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2012; 46(14):989–997.





Action area 7 – Disadvantaged populations Address inequality in physical activity participation

Authors

K Ball,¹ V Cleland,² J Dollman,³ G Turrell^{4,5}

- 1 Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University
- 2 Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, University of Tasmania
- 3 School of Health Sciences, University of South Australia
- 4 School of Public Health and Social Work, Queensland University of Technology
- 5 NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities

Suggested citation

Ball K, Cleland V, Dollman J, et al. Action area 7: Disadvantaged populations. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Physical activity and related health outcomes are socially distributed. People experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage (e.g. low income, low education level, low-status occupation or living in a socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhood) are less likely to meet physical activity guidelines and more likely to be sedentary than more advantaged individuals. This association is graded, with increasing levels of advantage associated with increased physical activity.¹ In addition, people living in regional and remote areas of Australia are generally less physically active than those living in metropolitan areas.²

Consider the case for change:

- Socioeconomic and geographic inequities in physical activity parallel inequities in chronic disease such as heart disease and diabetes and risk factors such as obesity. These inequities result from a complex interaction of political, economic and structural factors, as well as the conditions in which people are born, live, work and age.
- Reducing socioeconomic and geographic inequities in physical activity participation is important to achieve equitable increases in physical activity across the population.
- Key factors contributing to socioeconomic inequities in physical activity participation include lack of access to physical activity facilities or supports in disadvantaged neighbourhoods, financial

constraints, long or inflexible working hours, psychosocial stress, real or perceived threats to safety in disadvantaged neighbourhoods, and lack of social support or social or cultural norms that support physical activity among socioeconomically disadvantaged groups.

- Key factors that contribute to geographic inequities in physical activity participation include limited or poor-quality physical activity facilities and infrastructure in rural and remote areas, perceptions that one gets enough physical activity at work, and lack of social support or social or cultural norms that support physical activity in rural or remote areas.
 - Rural Australia also faces significant social, demographic, economic and health challenges including high occupational hazards; increased mechanisation of farming practices; de-population and changing population composition; an ageing farmer workforce; social isolation; poor access to services; climatic extremes, with inadequate built environment mitigation; fewer transport options; poorer road quality; exposure to changing climatic conditions; and macro- and micro-economic fluctuations.

🚹 What must be done?

Reducing socioeconomic and geographic inequities in physical activity necessitates a multi-sectorial approach that focuses on maximising physical activity opportunities at the neighbourhood level through the built and social environments, and via health promotion, education and support at the individual level. Efforts that only focus on individual education and behaviour change are at risk of widening inequities.³

The following interventions are recommended as means of supporting people who experience socioeconomic or geographical disadvantage to participate in physical activity.

Implement polices that overcome socioeconomic or geographical barriers to physical activity participation:

- apply an equity focus to all policy and funding investments in public transport infrastructure and physical activity programs, with the main effort focused on the most disadvantaged communities and groups
- reorient transport policy, planning and funding to prioritise investment in walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure; allocate resources proportionally to need, concentrating initially on underserviced areas, including developments on the urban fringe and in regional centres
- provide federal funding to local government to maintain and enhance community

infrastructure that promotes physical activity

- federal government to invest in the delivery of accessible and affordable evidence-based physical activity programs, to be available in all communities including poorly serviced communities and those isolated by socioeconomic, cultural or geographic attributes
- provide walking and cycling infrastructure as part of all government-funded urban transport projects.

Plan, develop and retrofit environments to support physical activity participation:

 design and build local environments that promote walking, cycling and perceptions of safety (this can be achieved by implementing initiatives contained in *Action areas 1 and* 4 on pages 16–18 and 34–36)

Implement social and community interventions that help to overcome socioeconomic and geographic barriers to physical activity participation:

- develop physical activity opportunities that are socially and culturally accessible to people and groups who are more likely to experience socioeconomic disadvantage, such as migrants from linguistically and culturally diverse backgrounds, single parents, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, people with disabilities and the elderly
- build partnerships with various local organisations and groups

(e.g. local government, primarycare providers, community groups, schools, youth groups, aged-care services, sporting clubs and businesses) to identify and support innovative and affordable physical activity options in areas of socioeconomic or geographic disadvantage; these partnerships should work to

- involve the people who are experiencing disadvantage in the design and delivery of physical activity programs to ensure they meet their needs while also contributing to social capital and instilling feelings of ownership and control
- optimise the use of local facilities including sportsgrounds, gyms, community halls, schools and swimming pools; this may include off-peak access to gyms, better sportsground lighting for after-hours games or training, and facility share arrangements with local schools
- increase physical activity participation by providing targeted subsidies for
 - children from disadvantaged families to participate in organised sport and sporting clubs
 - entry fees to gyms, community recreational facilities and sports clubs
 - participation in evidencebased physical activity programs



- support local sporting clubs to grow membership and remain financially viable by
 - developing linkages with school sport and physical education to increase club membership
 - providing user-friendly guidance on governance, revenue raising and membership recruitment
- implement local safe communities programs and initiatives in partnership with police, community, business and local government to increase actual and perceived safety
- invest in active school travel programs in disadvantaged neighbourhoods to encourage more walking and cycling to school, including
 - regular mass participation events such as 'walking, wheeling Wednesdays'

- safe routes to school, with mapped routes and safer crossings
- road safety and bicycle education programs
- work with schools and education authorities to promote school-based physical activity programs as an avenue for reducing inequities.⁴

Empower individuals to become more physically active:

 support group-based programs that encourage peer support and shared experiences; use existing events and locations where people gather, such as men's sheds or libraries, to promulgate health messages^{5,6}

- capitalise on the close connection of rural people with their local media by encouraging residents to submit articles of local relevance to help foster a culture that supports physical activity
- address poor understanding of the national physical guidelines and the moderate physical activity message by disseminating easy-tounderstand messages through primary-care services, men's sheds, libraries, technology and customer-facing government services.

See also Action area 11 – Financial measures

- 1 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: physical activity, 2011–12. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.004. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 2 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Rural, regional and remote health: indicators of health status and determinants of health. Canberra: AIHW, 2008.
- 3 Backholer K, Beauchamp A, Ball K, et al. A framework for evaluating the impact of obesity prevention strategies on socioeconomic inequalities in weight. Am J Public Health 2014. Epub 2014 Aug 14.
- 4 Vander Ploeg KA, Maximova K, McGavock J, et al. Do school-based physical activity interventions increase or reduce inequalities in health? Soc Sci Med 2014; 112:80–87.
- 5 Cleland C, Tully M, Kee F, et al. The effectiveness of physical activity interventions in socioeconomically disadvantaged communities: a systematic review. Prev Med 2012; 54(6):317–380.
- 6 Cleland V, Granados A, Crawford D, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to promote physical activity among socioeconomically disadvantaged women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev 2013; 14(3):197–212.



Action area 8 – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

Provide programs and opportunities to increase physical activity levels among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

Authors

R Macniven,¹ V Wade,² K Canuto,³ K Page,² P Dhungel²

- 1 School of Public Health, University of Sydney
- 2 National Heart Foundation of Australia
- 3 South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute

Suggested citation

Macniven R, Wade V, Canuto K, et al. Action area 8: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Rates of coronary heart disease in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples reflect unacceptable levels of health inequality.

The case for change is compelling:

- Heart attack events in people of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander descent are 2.6 times higher than the broader Australian population.¹
- Physical inactivity is a contributor to the rates of chronic disease in this population, accounting for 7% of the total disease burden.²
- While there is limited evidence regarding effective physical activity interventions for targeting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, there is evidence that they experience unique social, cultural and economic barriers to participation, such as negative community perceptions of exercising alone.

- There is also evidence that group programs exclusively for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are appealing and acceptable.³
- In non-remote areas in 2012–13, 62% of Indigenous Australians aged 15 years and over reported being sedentary or exercising at low levels.⁴

While further research is needed, given the increased chronic disease risks suffered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, and the key role of physical activity in reducing risk, physical activity interventions (and their evaluation) should be prioritised in Indigenous communities.

Numerous examples of community programs are described in the 'grey', or informally published, literature and this is an important source of qualitative information.⁵



What must be done?

Participation in physical activity can benefit Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their communities in many ways:

- making an important contribution to reducing chronic disease
- improving physical and mental health and wellbeing
- improving social factors, such as community connectedness.

In addition, physical activity can provide important cultural links through activities such as dance, hunting, fishing, bushwalking, intergenerational programs, men's health programs and women's groups.

The following interventions are recommended as means of promoting increased levels of physical activity among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Implement policies that promote higher levels of physical activity participation among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples:

- policy and funding investments in physical activity programs to include an equity focus, with main effort focused on the most disadvantaged communities and groups
- establish a fund to enable programs with proven effectiveness to be sustained and to be made available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
- implement policies and investment in ongoing

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultural awareness training at all three levels of government, particularly for those agencies developing and delivering health services.

Provide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities with access to built environments that are conducive to physical activity:

- provide accessible recreation facilities in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities
- provide attractive open space, shaded areas, basketball rings and safe walking and cycling infrastructure
- promote safe environments and ensure the physical and social environment in the communities is conducive to safe participation in physical activity
- implement physical activity programs that are delivered by qualified exercise staff.

Implement social and community interventions to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' participation in physical activity:

- develop physical activity opportunities that are affordable and socially and culturally accessible to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
- consult Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples to ensure programs are developed in accordance with the needs and interests of local people
- with respect to local culture, tailor programs to the needs of men, women and children

ensure all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children receive quality physical education at school and have access to inexpensive recreation and sport participation opportunities in their community.



- 1 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2014. Australia's health series no. 14. Cat. no. AUS 178. Canberra: AIHW, 2014.
- 2 Vos DT, Barker B, Stanley L, et al. The burden of disease and injury in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 2003. Centre for Burden of Disease and Cost-Effectiveness, School of Population Health, University of Queensland, 2007.
- 3 Canuto KJ, Spagnoletti B, McDermott RA, et al. Factors influencing attendance in a structured physical activity program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in an urban setting: a mixed methods process evaluation. Int J Equity Health 2013; 12:11. Epub 2013 Jan 26.
- 4 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey: first results, Australia, 2012–2013. Cat. no. 4727.0.55.001. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 5 Shilton T, Brown W. Physical activity among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities. J Sci Med Sport 2004; 7(1):39–42.



Action area 9 – Children and adolescents Promote healthy development through

physical activity participation

Authors

J Salmon,¹ N Ridgers,¹ P Morgan,² T Okely,³ D Lubans,⁴ K Hesketh,¹ T Hinkley,¹ D Dunstan,⁵ B Giles-Corti⁶

- 1 Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, Deakin University
- 2 Priority Research Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition, University of Newcastle
- 3 Interdisciplinary Educational Research Institute, University of Wollongong
- 4 School of Education, University of Newcastle
- 5 Baker IDI Heart and Diabetes Institute
- 6 McCaughey VicHealth Centre for Community Wellbeing, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne

Suggested citation

Salmon J, Ridgers N, Morgan P, et al. Action area 9: Children and adolescents. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🚴 Why is this important?

Physical activity is integral to the physical and psychological health of children and adolescents^{1–3}; it contributes to successfully navigating each of the major development phases from infancy through to adolescence. Physical activity is one of the building blocks of good health and yet evidence has shown that the rate of physical activity reduces as many young people progress through their formative years. The evidence to support increasing the rates of physical activity among young people is overwhelming.

Consider the case for change:

- Physical activity is critical for a healthy start to life.^{1,4,5}
 - In infants, physical activity is positively associated with improved measures of adiposity, motor skill development and cognitive development.
 - In toddlers, there are positive associations with bone and skeletal health.
 - In pre-schoolers, activity is associated with improved measures of adiposity, motor skill development, psychosocial health and cardiometabolic health indicators.
 - Participation in physical activity is positively related to cardiovascular risk factors such as high blood pressure, cholesterol and blood lipids, overweight and obesity, metabolic syndrome, bone mineral density and psychological and cognitive

variables including depression and academic performance.

- The majority of Australian children between the ages of 5 to 17 do not currently meet physical activity guidelines. Australian Health Survey Data shows that approximately 30% in this age bracket met the guidelines. Participation decreases with age, from 36% of 5 to 8 year olds to just 6% of 15 to 17 year olds.⁶
- In spite of evidence that active children and adolescents will become active adults, the mean decline in activity from childhood through to adolescence is 7% per year,⁷ with adolescent girls showing the greatest declines from 9 to 12 years and boys from 13 to 16 years.



What must be done?

Participation in physical activity is fundamental to the health and social development of young people growing up in Australia. The following interventions are recommended to increase the opportunity for young people to be physically active every day.

Implement policies to promote physical activity in young people:

- develop and implement a physical activity accreditation system for childcare services (similar to that of a SunSmart centre)
- mandate delivery of high-quality Health and Physical Education (PE) lessons (at least three lessons of PE totalling 120–180 minutes per week) that focus on lifelong engagement in physical activity and sport, and mastery of fundamental movement skills and sport skills
- ensure that a minimum amount of physical activity per day or week is achieved⁸
- provide funding to local government to maintain and enhance community infrastructure that promotes physical activity for children (e.g. playgrounds and climbing equipment)
- establish policy and environmental support for active transport programs, including improvement of walking and cycling facilities
- implement multi-sectorial cooperation to promote education links with sport and recreation.

Provide physical activity opportunities in pre-school and childcare centres:

- provide training and accreditation to early childhood educators and/or directors in physical activity and gross motor skills⁹
- provide opportunities for children to move throughout the day by providing set times for structured and unstructured physical activity every day.

Promote physical activity in primary and secondary schools:

- teachers to encourage children and adolescents to be more physically active during the course of the school day, particularly during recess and lunch breaks^{10,11}
- ensure the presence of qualified sport and PE teachers in primary and secondary schools; provide flexibility in timetabling and curriculum for sport opportunities
- increase physical activity levels in PE¹² through
 - teacher professional learning that focuses on class organisation, management, transitions and maximising active learning time in physical education
 - instruction and supplementing usual PE lessons with high-intensity activity (i.e. fitness infusion)
 - developing confidence and competence in fundamental movement skills¹³
- make changes to the physical environment:

- provide a variety of grassed surface spaces, access to equipment¹⁴ and playground line markings¹⁵
- increase access to play areas at lunchtime¹⁶ and outside of school hours¹⁷
- provide activity-permissive classrooms through heightadjustable desks and an active curriculum (including homework)¹⁸
- provide safer routes to school to encourage active travel.⁸

Promote physical activity during the after-school period and in other community settings:

- ensure children have the opportunity to be active, with a focus on play, fundamental motor skills and access to school facilities during after-school care^{19,20}
- provide greater access to facilities (e.g. public open spaces, playgrounds) in the community
- promote walking or cycling home from school; use a travel coordinator
- provide children, adolescents and parents with active transport resources; assist with active travel plans (e.g. safe routes to school)
- collaborate with community sporting organisations, including making school facilities accessible and offering the Active After-school Communities Program
- link schools to community opportunities and adapt for adolescents so that they are



better prepared for when they leave school environment and therefore develop lifelong physical activity habits.

Promote physical activity within families:

- provide programs that target parents and caregivers²¹ and incorporate parent training, family counselling or telephonebased interventions²²
- provide information and skills to first-time parents about ways to minimise their infant's or toddler's screen time and optimise activity levels²³
- provide information on local opportunities for physical activity that are suitable for families and free or low-cost ideas about ways that families can incorporate activity into their daily routines
- provide programs to target parenting practices and beliefs relating to physical activity
- provide education on optimising the home, social and physical environments to maximise physical activity opportunities.

- 1 Okely A, Salmon J, Vella SA, et al. A systematic review to inform the Australian Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines for Children and Young People. Report prepared for the Australian Government Department of Health. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health, 2013.
- 2 Janssen I, LeBlanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010; 7(40):1–16.
- 3 Singh A, Uijtdewilligen L, Twisk JW, et al. Physical activity and performance at school: a systematic review of the literature including a methodological quality assessment. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2012; 166(1):49–55.
- 4 Timmons BW, LeBlanc AG, Carson V, et al. Systematic review of physical activity and health in the early years (aged 0–4 years). Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2012; 37(4):773–792.
- 5 Hinkley T, Teychenne M, Downing KL, et al. Early childhood physical activity, sedentary behaviors and psychosocial wellbeing: a systematic review. Prev Med 2014; 62:182–192.
- 6 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: physical activity, 2011–12. Cat no. 4364.0.55.004. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 7 Dumith SC, Gigante DP, Domingues MR, et al. Physical activity change during adolescence: a systematic review and a pooled analysis. Int J Epidemiol 2011; 40(3):685–698.
- 8 Robertson-Wilson JE, Dargavel MD, Bryden PJ, et al. Physical activity policies and legislation in schools: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2012; 43(6):643–649.
- 9 Hardy LL, King L, Kelly B, et al. Munch and Move: evaluation of a preschool healthy eating and movement skill program. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010; 7(1):80.
- 10 Yildirim M, Arundell L, Cerin E, et al. What helps children to move more at school recess and lunchtime? Mid-intervention results from Transform-Us! cluster-randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med 2014; 48(3):271–277.
- 11 Ridgers ND, Timperio A, Crawford D, et al. What factors are associated with adolescents' school break time physical activity and sedentary time? PLoS One 2013; 8(2):e56838.
- 12 Lonsdale C, Rosenkranz RR, Peralta LR, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions designed to increase moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in school physical education lessons. Prev Med 2013; 56(2):152–161.
- 13 Morgan PJ, Barnett LM, Cliff DP, et al. Fundamental movement skill interventions in youth: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Pediatrics 2013; 132(5):e1361–1383. Epub 2013 Oct 28.
- 14 Martin K, Bremner A, Salmon J, et al. School and individual level characteristics are associated with children's moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity during school recess. Aust NZ J Public Health 2012; 36(5):469–477.
- 15 Parrish A-M, Okely AD, Stanley RM, et al. The effect of school recess interventions on physical activity. Sports Med 2013; 43(4):287–299.
- 16 Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Cliff DP, et al. Fundamental movement skills in children and adolescents. Sports Med 2010; 40(12):1019–1035.
- 17 Haug E, Torsheim T, Sallis JF, et al. The characteristics of the outdoor school environment associated with physical activity. Health Educ Res 2010; 25(2):248–256.
- 18 Salmon J, Arundell L, Hume C, et al. A cluster-randomized controlled trial to reduce sedentary behavior and promote physical activity and health of 8–9 year olds: The Transform-Us! Study. BMC Public Health 2011; 11(1):759.
- 19 Atkin A, Gorely T, Biddle SH, et al. Interventions to promote physical activity in young people conducted in the hours immediately after school: a systematic review. Int J Behav Med 2011; 18(3):176–187.
- 20 Stanley RM, Ridley K, Dollman J. Correlates of children's time-specific physical activity: a review of the literature. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012; 9:50.
- 21 Morgan PJ, Collins CE, Plotnikoff RC, et al. The 'Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids' community randomized controlled trial: a community-based healthy lifestyle program for fathers and their children. Prev Med 2013; 61:90–99.
- 22 van Sluijs EM, Kriemler S, McMinn AM. The effect of community and family interventions on young people's physical activity levels: a review of reviews and updated systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2011; 45(11):914–922.
- 23 Campbell KJ, Lioret S, McNaughton SA, et al. A parent-focused intervention to reduce infant obesity risk behaviors: a randomized trial. Pediatrics 2013; 131(4):652–660.



16



Action area 10 – Older people Support healthy and active ageing

Authors

WJ Brown,¹ JGZ van Uffelen^{1,2}

- 1 Centre for Research on Exercise, Physical Activity and Health, School of Human Movement Studies, University of Queensland
- 2 Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living, Victoria University

Suggested citation

Brown WJ, van Uffelen JGZ. Action area 10: Older people. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🚴 Why is this important?

In 2012, 14% of Australia's population of 22.7 million people were over 65 years of age.¹ In the next two decades the number of people aged 65 and over is projected to increase by 91% and the number of people aged over 85 years will more than double.² Although about two-thirds of this group rate their own health as good, very good or excellent, the reality is that more than half have chronic health problems and/or physical limitations.

Consider the case for change:

- Increasing levels of physical activity is one of the most important steps older adults can take to improve and maintain their physical and mental health and quality of life.^{3,4}
- There are demonstrated • benefits of physical activity for (1) preventing and managing a range of chronic health problems (such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, musculoskeletal conditions, mental health problems including dementia, and some cancers) and for (2) improving and maintaining physical function, (including strength), reducing physical decline and maintaining the capacity to independently cope with activities of daily living in old age.⁵
 - The most recent national survey of physical activity in Australia found that 38% of 65–74 year olds (37% of men and 39% of women) and 25% of those aged 75 or more (32% of men and 20% of women) were meeting the recommended physical activity level for older people of 150 minutes per week.⁶

- Data from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health also highlight the rapid downward trend in the proportion who meet guidelines with increasing age, from 43% of women aged 70–75 years to 25% at 82–87 years.⁷ These estimates do not include time spent in household and garden activities, which, in older women at least, account for almost half of total activity time.⁸
- If older people do not have the capacity to meet the physical activity guidelines, less than the recommended amount of physical activity will still improve health and quality of life.^{9,10}
- In addition to lack of regular physical activity, sedentary behaviour can also impact negatively on health. In Australia, older people spend more time watching television than their younger counterparts¹¹ and objective measures of sedentary time show increasing sedentary time with increasing age.¹² Strategies for reducing sitting time may therefore offer an alternative approach for promoting more movement in older people.
- Research has shown that, in older women, factors associated with physical activity differ from those associated with sitting time; hence, different approaches may be necessary to encourage older people to both decrease their sitting time and to increase physical activity participation.¹³
- There are indications that physical activity and improved fitness can also help to prevent cognitive decline.^{14,15}

What must be done?

As the numbers of older people in the population escalate over the next 20 years, efforts to promote greater levels of physical activity in this group will become necessary to reduce a tide of rising health and disability and agedcare costs. A multi-strategy response to promoting physical activity among older adults must include individual, social, environmental and policy strategies that are appropriate to age and function.

The definition of 'older people' generally relates to those over the age of 65 years. However, people in this age group have a variety of physical capabilities, characterised by relatively good physical function in the 'young old' to sometimes severe impairment in the frail elderly. It is important, therefore, to tailor strategies to reflect these capabilities.

The following interventions are recommended.

Implement policies that support older people to live physically active lives:

- develop, implement and fund an integrated and comprehensive active older Australians strategy to increase levels of physical activity among all older Australians
- encourage governments to support the delivery of accessible and affordable evidence-based physical activity programs, delivered by a range of community organisations and primary-care providers (as a means of both reducing chronic disease risk and contributing

to the management of existing conditions)

- implement planning guidelines that account for the variety of mobility and functional capabilities of older adults when designing road crossings, pedestrian infrastructure, public transport access, public open space and recreational infrastructure, as well as when designing retirement and agedcare housing
- introduce policy mechanisms to mandate the delivery of physical activity programs in aged-care services and settings.

Plan, develop and retrofit environments to provide older people with more opportunities to participate in physical activity:

- to promote wider uptake of walking, implement the interventions contained in Action area 1 – Built environments but with benches for resting and attention to access for older people, including those who use walking aids
- in aged-care settings, promote activity-permissive environments by providing safe and aesthetically pleasing walking paths, shade and weather protection, and other facilities that will encourage both walking and other physical activities¹⁶
- site retirement housing and aged-care services within connected street networks with low traffic volumes, and in the case of retirement housing, high levels of access to shops and services.

Implement social and community interventions that support older Australians to live more active lives:

- design health club and recreation centre programs to meet the needs of young-old, mid-old and older-old people, including offering a variety of opportunities to improve aerobic fitness, muscular strength and flexibility; encourage better use of existing infrastructure and organisations (e.g. sports clubs) by older people, with attention to increasing social support for activity
- provide community-based
 programs that meet the needs
 of older adults and increase
 motivation, reduce barriers and
 build community connection;
 for example, walking groups
 (with and without poles to aid
 balance and prevent falls¹⁷),
 senior swim clubs, water aerobic
 classes and tai chi¹⁸
- implement home-based
 physical activity interventions,
 with support via telephone
 (e.g. monitoring and physical activity counselling), video
 or internet (e.g. live feedback
 during exercise); these can be as
 effective as supervised exercise
 programs and may be an option
 for helping housebound older
 people to be more active¹⁹

•

make available progressive strength, flexibility and balance training (for falls prevention), as well as programs for cardiovascular health (e.g. walking, pole walking, swimming) and practice in walking up and down steps, in all aged-care facilities

- implement evidence-based physical activity programs to maintain functional status and to improve quality of life in people in aged care who have a diagnosis of dementia or cognitive decline²⁰
- train health professionals to help older people, especially those with health problems or mobility restrictions, to become more active²¹; strategies may include helping older people to develop personalised activity goals or referral to an evidence-based physical activity program.

Help older individuals to understand the health benefits of living a more physically active life:

- design and implement a massmedia campaign tailored to the needs and motivations of older adults in accordance with age and physical capacity
- implement education and awareness programs to promote the health benefits of physical activity for older people, alleviating fears, considering individual preferences and providing social support.

- 1 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Population by age and sex: regions of Australia, 2012. Cat. no. 3235.0. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 2 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2012. Australia's health series no. 13. Cat. no. AUS 156. Canberra: AIHW, 2012.
- 3 Sims J, Hill K, Hunt S. National physical activity recommendations for older Australians: discussion document. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2006.
- 4 Cyarto E, Moorhead G, Brown W. Updating the evidence relating to physical activity intervention studies in older people. J Sci Med Sport 2004; 7(1):30–38.
- 5 Tak E, Kuiper R, Chorus A, et al. Prevention of onset and progression of basic ADL disability by physical activity in community dwelling older adults: a meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev 2013; 12(1):329–338. Epub 2012 Oct 16.
- 6 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: physical activity, 2011–12. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.004. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 7 Hill RL, Brown WJ. Older Australians and physical activity levels: do we know how many are meeting guidelines? Australas J Ageing 2012; 31(4):208–217. Epub 2012 Dec 21.
- 8 Peeters G, van Gellecum YR, van Uffelen JG, et al. Contribution of house and garden work to the association between physical activity and well-being in young, mid-aged and older women. Br J Sports Med 2014; 48(12):996-1001. Epub 2012 Sept 1.
- 9 Heesch KC, van Uffelen JG, van Gellecum YR, et al. Dose-response relationships between physical activity, walking and health-related quality of life in mid-age and older women. J Epidemiol Community Health 2012; 66(8):670–677. Epub 2012 May 1.
- 10 Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sport Exerc 2007; 39(8):1435–1445. Epub 2007 Sept 1.
- 11 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian health survey: physical activity, 2011–12. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.004. Canberra: ABS, 2013.
- 12 Healy GN, Clark BK, Winkler EA, et al. Measurement of adults' sedentary time in population-based studies. Am J Prev Med 2011; 41(2):216–227. Epub 2011 July 20.
- 13 van Uffelen JG, Heesch KC, van Gellecum YR, et al. Which older women could benefit from interventions to decrease sitting time and increase physical activity? J Am Geriatr Soc 2012; 60(2):393–396. Epub 2012 Feb 16.
- 14 Snowden M, Steinman L, Mochan K, et al. Effect of exercise on cognitive performance in community-dwelling older adults: review of intervention trials and recommendations for public health practice and research. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011; 59(4):704–716. Epub 2011 Mar 29.
- 15 Colcombe S, Kramer AF. Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults: a meta-analytic study. Psychol Sci 2003; 14(2):125–130. Epub 2003 Mar 29.
- 16 Baert V, Gorus E, Mets T, et al. Motivators and barriers for physical activity in the oldest old: a systematic review. Ageing Res Rev 2011; 10(4):464–474. Epub 2011 May 17.
- 17 Fritschi J, Brown W, Laukkanen R, et al. The effects of pole walking on health in adults: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials and controlled trials. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2012; 22(5):e70–78.
- 18 Liu X, Miller YD, Burton NW, et al. The effect of tai chi on health-related quality of life in people with elevated blood glucose or diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Qual Life Res 2013; 22(7):1783–1786. Epub 2012 Nov 13.
- 19 Geraedts H, Zijlstra A, Bulstra SK, et al. Effects of remote feedback in home-based physical activity interventions for older adults: a systematic review. Patient Educ Couns 2013; 91(1):14–24. Epub 2012 Dec 1.
- 20 Blankevoort CG, van Heuvelen MJ, Boersma F, et al. Review of effects of physical activity on strength, balance, mobility and ADL performance in elderly subjects with dementia. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2010; 30(5):392–402. Epub 2010 Oct 29.
- 21 Neidrick TJ, Fick DM, Loeb SJ. Physical activity promotion in primary care targeting the older adult. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2012; 24(7):405–416. Epub 2012 Jun 28.




Action area 11 – Financial measures

Provide financial incentives to make active choices cheaper and easier

Authors

J Stanley,¹ P McCue²

- 1 University of Sydney Business School
- 2 New South Wales Premier's Council for Active Living

Suggested citation

Stanley J, McCue P. Action area 11: Financial measures. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Prices influence behaviour and choices, particularly among people on lower incomes, pensioners and unemployed people. Through financial incentives and disincentives we can promote healthier behaviours. In turn, adoption of healthier behaviours creates savings for the country. The formulas for calculating the costs and benefits of many Australian transport, planning and health policy priorities do not accurately reflect the impact these choices have on communities, health and the environment.

The case for change is significant:

- Costing formulas fail to fully account for the impact of private motor vehicle use on the health and wellbeing of communities and the environment, while transport modes of walking, cycling and public transport are not recognised for their wider benefits.^{1–5}
- Low income should not be a barrier to participation in physical activity. Families on low incomes, older adults and Indigenous Australians are more likely to live in outer metropolitan areas or in rural communities with limited or ageing physical activity infrastructure and without the benefits of good public transport services available to those living closer to the centre of cities.^{6,7}

- Socioeconomically disadvantaged members of the community are further disadvantaged by
 - transport policy and urban planning that is dominated by the car (rather than public transport, walking and cycling)^{8,9}
 - urban planning that fails to provide for accessible physical activity, sport, recreation, walking and cycling¹⁰
 - high costs associated with participating in some physical activity, recreation and sporting activities.



What must be done?

It is vital that policies are implemented to correct market-pricing failures and ensure equitable access to physical activity opportunities. The following interventions are recommended.

Implement financial policies and regulations that support and promote more physical activity:

- conduct an inquiry to determine opportunities for public policies to favourably influence affordability of physical-activityrelated products and services; examine mechanisms such as pricing, taxation, grants and subsidies
- reorient transport policy, planning and funding to prioritise investment in walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure; allocate resources proportionally to need, concentrating initially on underserviced areas, including developments on the urban fringe
- provide financial incentives to make public transport, walking and cycling cheaper choices than driving and parking
- ensure that car users are charged for the costs their travel choices impose on the wider community, using the revenue raised to improve walking, cycling and public transport choices, especially for lower-income communities^{1,11}

- encourage public transport use by continuing to financially support services, especially in outer metropolitan suburbs
- consider a standard affordable charge for public transport journeys in cities, regardless of distance
- increase the availability of free secure bicycle storage facilities close to places of employment
- provide financial incentives for people who choose to ride bicycles for transport (e.g. the UK's 'bike to work scheme' enables the costs of purchasing and running a bike to be paid with pre-tax dollars if people commit to cycle to work 50% of the time)¹²
- provide increased scope for tax deductibility for physical activity participation (such as club memberships, sporting equipment, exercise classes, bicycles and clothing) in a range of settings¹³
- develop a system to provide subsidised sporting club fees for children, especially to families that experience financial hardship
- provide subsidised user fees for community services such as swimming pools and recreation centres, especially in poorer urban suburbs and depressed rural communities
- provide fringe benefits tax exemption for workplace packaging of sporting and health club memberships, bicycle purchases and public transport use

• provide federal funding to local governments to maintain and enhance community infrastructure that promotes physical activity.

Implement social and community interventions that incentivise participation in physical activity:

- financially reward people who make active travel choices through local business and workplace incentives (e.g. a Victorian company pays an annual bonus to staff based on the number of times in the year they rode, walked or caught public transport to work)¹⁴
- fund workplace based TravelSmart programs, Workplace Travel Plans and/ or Transport Management Associations to encourage greater use of walking, cycling and public transport, and use these programs to identify incentives that are likely to support travel behaviour change^{2,15–17}
- fund 'free days' on public transport to encourage new users to try the service^{17,18}
- increase physical activity participation by providing targeted subsidies for:
 - children from disadvantaged families to participate in organised sport and sporting clubs
 - subsidised entry fees to gyms, community recreational facilities and sports clubs
 - participation in evidencebased physical activity programs (primary-care link)

- ensure equity and access by providing affordable and accessible physical activity options in the poorest metropolitan suburbs and rural and remote communities
- promote subsidised entry to a range of physical activity opportunities for individuals and families with a lower socioeconomic status
- subsidise the cost of public transport, especially for people living in outer metropolitan areas.



References

- 1 Bus Industry Confederation. Moving people: solutions for a liveable Australia. Canberra: BIC, 2012.
- 2 Stopher P, Stanley J. Introduction to transport policy: a public policy view. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar, 2014.
- 3 Moving People 2030 Taskforce. Moving Australia 2030: A transport plan for a productive and active Australia. Kingston, ACT: Moving People 2030 Taskforce Secretariat, 2013.
- 4 Mulley C, Tyson R, McCue P, et al. Valuing active travel: including the health benefits of sustainable transport in transportation appraisal frameworks. Research in Transportation Business & Management 2013; 7:27–34.
- 5 Australian Government Department of Infrastructure and Transport. Walking, riding and access to public transport: supporting active travel in Australian communities. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2013.
- 6 Currie G, Stanley J, Stanley J. No way to go: transport and social disadvantage in Australian communities. Clayton: Monash University e-Press, 2007.
- 7 Dodson J, Sipe N, Gavin N. Shocking the suburbs: urban location, housing debt and oil vulnerability in the Australian city. Brisbane: Urban Research Program, Griffith University, 2006.
- 8 Garden F, Jalaludin B. Impact of Urban sprawl on overweight, obesity, and physical activity in Sydney, Australia. J Urban Health 2009; 86(1):19–30.
- 9 Dora C, Phillips M, editors. Transport, environment and health. WHO Regional Publications, European Series No. 89. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2000.
- 10 Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Mavoa S, et al. Do low-income neighbourhoods have the least green space? A cross-sectional study of Australia's most populous cities. BMC Public Health 2014; 14(1):292.
- 11 Stanley J. Pricing opportunities for Australia: paying our way in land transport. Bus and Coach Industry Policy Paper 1. Canberra, ACT: Bus Industry Confederation, 2014.
- 12 Cycle to Work Alliance. Behavioural impact analysis. 2011 [cited July 2014]. London: Cycle to Work Alliance and Westminster Advisers. Available from: http://www.cycletoworkalliance.org.uk/images/BehaviourImpactAnalysisFeb2011. pdf.
- 13 Towers Watson. Employee benefits: flexible benefits 2013. Research supplement. London: Centaur Media. 2013 [cited July 2014]. Available from: http://www.employeebenefits.co.uk/Journals/2014/01/14/s/e/g/Employee-Benefits.Towers-Watson-Flexible-benefits-research-2013.pdf.
- 14 New South Wales Premier's Council for Active Living. Active travel: Optus relocation. Case study. 2011 [cited July 2014]. Sydney: NSW Government. Available from: http://www.pcal.nsw.gov.au/case_studies/optus.
- 15 Sully A, editor. Workplace cycle parking guide. London: Transport for London, 2006.
- 16 Macquarie Park Transport Management Association. Project update: August 2012. 2012 [cited July 2014]. Available from: http://www.ryde.nsw.gov.au/_Documents/Dev-Macquarie+Park/MacquarieParkUpdate_TMA_300812.pdf.
- 17 Horoch W. Free public transport for car drivers in Nysa (Poland). 2012 [cited July 2014]. Eltis: The Urban Mobility Portal. Available from: http://www.eltis.org/index.php?id=13&study_id=3543.
- 18 Eltis. Commuter experiment encouraged car drivers to use more public transport in Skane (Sweden). 2013 [cited July 2014]. Eltis: The Urban Mobility Portal. Available from: http://www.eltis.org/index.php?ID1=5&id=60&news_id=4146.





Action area 12 – Mass-media strategy Promote the benefits of physical activity

Authors

T Shilton,¹ A Bauman,² J Leavy,³ B Bellew,⁴ R Plotnikoff⁵

- 1 National Heart Foundation of Australia
- 2 School of Public Health, University of Sydney
- 3 School of Public Health, Curtin University
- 4 School of Public Health, University of Sydney
- 5 School of Education, University of Newcastle

Suggested citation

Shilton T, Bauman A, Leavy J, et al. Action area 12: Mass-media strategy. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

🗞 Why is this important?

Mass-media strategies are effective when based on sound theory, adequately resourced and implemented in combination with community physical activity programs and policies and environmental changes. Mass media remains an important tool for reaching large numbers across populations. New media and technology offer additional opportunities for media communication about physical activity.

Consider the case for change:

- Mass media is effective in setting a community agenda around physical activity and in increasing awareness. It serves to inform, remind, motivate and support health-related change.^{1–3}
- Media campaigns have achieved positive results when based on sound theory and research and when combined with community activities.³⁻⁶
- A comprehensive approach may include multi-platform communication, combining social marketing principles and community-wide initiatives with traditional media as well as social and digital media strategies.^{7,8}
- The media can stimulate increases in help-seeking behaviours (e.g. calls to help lines) and can bring about significant change in beliefs and attitudes.⁹
- Online social media and technology have considerable potential for health communication.^{7,10}

- A review of community-wide campaigns identified ten studies that used diverse media in addition to social support, risk factor screening, community events and policy changes. There was a median increase of 4% in physical activity participation and 16% in energy expenditure. Of the 10 studies reviewed, only one failed to report an increase in physical activity.¹¹
- A meta-analysis of nine adult campaigns found mass media had a significant effect on promoting moderate intensity walking, but may not lead to achieving recommended levels of overall physical activity.¹²
 - Media is pervasive in the lives of young people and presents an opportunity to advertise the benefits of a healthy, physically active lifestyle. After one year, an evaluation of the US's child and youth physical activity campaign VERB found higher levels of physical activity in subgroups of US children.¹³



What must be done?

The interventions proposed in this document should be supported by a mass-media strategy that promotes the uptake of physical activity throughout the population. This strategy should be sensitive to the needs of different age groups, physical abilities and cultural preferences.

The following interventions are recommended:

- adequately fund an ongoing, targeted, physical activity massmedia strategy, including both traditional and new media
- combine traditional media with social and digital media communication strategies to explore and test the potential of new communication technologies, specifically the internet, mobile phone technology and mobile digital devices

- complement mass-media strategies with community activities designed to encourage a culture of physical activity in Australia (e.g. mass-media advertising, special events, television-free weeks and switch-off days, car-free days)
- fund and promote media-linked information services (e.g. a telephone information line, online services, professional education) that actively promote physical activity and help individuals to take action.

References

- 1 Community Preventive Services Task Force. Stand-alone mass media campaigns to increase physical activity: updated findings from the Community Preventive Services Task Force. Am J Prev Med 2012; 43(5):562–564. Epub 2012 Oct 20.
- 2 Wakefield MA, Loken B, Hornik RC. Use of mass media campaigns to change health behaviour. Lancet 2010; 376(9748):1261–1271. Epub 2010 Oct 12.
- 3 Leavy JE, Bull FC, Rosenberg M, et al. Physical activity mass media campaigns and their evaluation: a systematic review of the literature 2003–2010. Health Educ Res 2011; 26(6):1060–1085. Epub 2011 Sept 9.
- 4 Lankford T, Wallace J, Brown D, et al. Analysis of physical activity mass media campaign design. J Phys Act Health 2013. Epub 2013 Aug 22.
- 5 Brown DR, Soares J, Epping JM, et al. Stand-alone mass media campaigns to increase physical activity: a community guide updated review. Am J Prev Med 2012; 43(5):551–561. Epub 2012 Oct 20.
- 6 Bauman A, Chau J. The role of media in promoting physical activity. J Phys Act Health 2009; 6 Suppl 2:S196–210. Epub 2010 Feb 3.
- 7 Pratt M, Sarmiento OL, Montes F, et al. The implications of megatrends in information and communication technology and transportation for changes in global physical activity. Lancet 2012; 380(9838):282–293. Epub 2012 Jul 24.
- 8 Leavy JE, Rosenberg M, Barnes R, et al. Would you Find Thirty online? Website use in a Western Australian physical activity campaign. Health Promot J Austr 2013; 24(2):118–125. Epub 2013 Oct 31.
- 9 Donovan R, Carter O. Evidence for behaviour change from media-based public education campaigns: implications for a campaign to reduce time-to-care for patients with acute myocardial infarction. Perth: Curtin University, 2003.
- 10 Gold J, Pedrana AE, Sacks-Davis R, et al. A systematic examination of the use of online social networking sites for sexual health promotion. BMC Public Health 2011; 11:583. Epub 2011 Jul 23.
- 11 Kahn E, Ramsey L, Brownson R, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2002; 22(4):73–107.
- 12 Abioye AI, Hajifathalian K, Danaei G. Do mass media campaigns improve physical activity? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Arch Public Health 2013; 71(1):20. Epub 2013 Aug 7.
- 13 Huhamn M, Potter L, Wong F, et al. Effects of a mass media campaign to increase physical activity among children: year-1 results of the VERB campaign. Pediatrics 2005; 116:277–284.



Action area 13 – Research and program evaluation Support the implementation of physical activity initiatives through research, monitoring and evaluation

Authors

B Giles-Corti,¹ J Salmon²

- 1 McCaughey VicHealth Centre for Community Wellbeing, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne
- 2 Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, Deakin University

Suggested citation

Giles-Corti B, Salmon J. Action area 13: Research and program evaluation. In: Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014.

Why is this important?

The Blueprint is underpinned by an 'ecological' framework, which captures the constant interaction between individuals and the social, built and policy environments in which they live, work, love and play. These interactions can positively or negatively affect cardiovascular health; therefore, multi-level interventions are needed to create cardiovascular-health-enhancing policies and environments, as well as targeting groups, families and individuals in workplaces, schools and community settings.

This section considers the types of research and evaluation required to monitor, measure and guide these multi-level interventions. It explores general themes in evaluation, monitoring and research rather than specific areas of research.

Many of the interventions proposed in the Blueprint offer multiple benefits; measuring these 'co-benefits' ^{1,2} will assist in quantifying the overall societal impact of the interventions. Apart from physical and mental health effects, multiple and varied outcomes should be considered, including productivity, economic and societal benefits.

The research community has an important role to play in informing the implementation, and evaluating the effect of the initiatives contained in the Blueprint. To be effective, the interventions must be informed by policymakers, researchers and other professionals working together.



Cooperation between the various sectors and disciplines is imperative to support informed, effective and measurable outcomes. The following measures are recommended to ensure the development, delivery and demonstrated effectiveness of physical activity programs and policies.

Establish interdisciplinary research teams working in collaboration with multi-sector partners, resulting in:

- research and evaluation that is informed by policymakers and practitioners to ensure it is relevant in practice
- the selection and use of appropriate research and evaluation tools and methods (e.g. specific to the population group or location under observation)
- evaluation that considers multiple health behaviours (e.g. physical activity, sedentary behaviour, dietary intake) that impact on heart health
- research specific to the intervention being undertaken, such as active transport, sport participation and physical activity in older people.

Undertake policy-related research and natural experiments:

Monitoring of policy-level interventions – such as changes to built environments, the introduction of workplace sedentary behaviour guidelines or of citywide low traffic speeds – should be undertaken using a 'natural experiment' approach. This approach involves rigorously monitoring the effect of such changes and helps identify intended (and unintended) outcomes. It is therefore recommended that:

- natural experiment study designs be implemented where possible to monitor before-and-after impacts, and that these studies be undertaken in accordance with best-practice guidelines³
- co-benefits across multiple sectors be assessed (e.g. health, education, recreation, transport and environment)
- cost-benefit analysis also be considered to quantify the value of the studied intervention
- priority is given to evaluating the impact of polices and infrastructure on inequalities in cardiovascular health outcomes.

Evaluate and monitor interventions that target settings, population groups or individuals:

Researchers and policymakers should work together to identify and, where necessary, generate the evidence to inform interventions that target individuals, settings or particular population groups. Researchers should be engaged at the earliest possible stage before designing an intervention. It is recommended that:

- where there is limited evidence to inform practice, researchers work alongside program or policy staff to identify research to inform the intervention design
- where evidence is absent or limited, studies are undertaken to inform how much of a particular intervention is required before change to physical activity levels are achieved (these are often called 'dose-response' studies)
- intervention research is undertaken to establish the effectiveness of strategies to increase physical activity among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
- mass-media and other campaigns are monitored and evaluated for effectiveness
- innovative interventions are designed and undertaken in partnership with policymakers and researchers to quantify the impact.

References

- 1 Giles-Corti B, Foster S, Shilton T, et al. The co-benefits for health of investing in active transportation. NSW Public Health Bull 2010; 21:122–127.
- 2 Rissel CE. Active travel: a climate change mitigation strategy with co-benefits for health. NSW Public Health Bull 2009; 20(1–2):10–13.
- 3 Medical Research Council. Using natural experiments to evaluate population health interventions: guidance for producers and users of evidence. London: MRC. 2011.





For heart health information 1300 36 27 87 www.heartfoundation.org.au

© 2014 National Heart Foundation of Australia

First edition 2009

This work is copyright. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form of language without prior written permission from the National Heart Foundation of Australia (national office). Enquiries concerning permissions should be directed to copyright@heartfoundation.org. au. The entire contents of this material are subject to copyright protection.

ISBN 978-1-74345-082-6

PRO-158

Recommended citations

See action areas for specific citation details

or

National Heart Foundation of Australia. Blueprint for an active Australia. 2nd edn. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2014

Disclaimer: This material has been developed by the Heart Foundation for general information. The statements and recommendations it contains are, unless labelled as 'expert opinion', based on independent review of the available evidence.

While care has been taken in preparing the content of this material, the Heart Foundation and its employees cannot accept any liability, including for any loss or damage, resulting from the reliance on the content, or for its accuracy, currency and completeness. The information is obtained and developed from a variety of sources including, but not limited to, collaborations with third parties and information provided by third parties under licence. It is not an endorsement of any organisation, product or service.

This material may be found in third parties' programs or materials (including, but not limited to, show bags or advertising kits). This does not imply an endorsement or recommendation by the National Heart Foundation of Australia for such third parties' organisations, products or services, including their materials or information. Any use of National Heart Foundation of Australia materials or information by another person or organisation is at the user's own risk.

The entire contents of this material are subject to copyright protection.